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On December 27, 2005, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved REVLIMID

(lenalidomide), changing the course of treatment for MDS deletion 5q and Celgene. The first of

our novel class of immunomodulatory compounds, and a breakthrough oral targeted therapy,

REVLIMID is now approved in the United States for the treatment of patients with transfusion-

dependent anemia due to low-risk or intermediate-1-risk myelodysplastic syndromes (MDS)

associated with a deletion 5q cytogenetic abnormality with or without additional cytogenetic

abnormalities. MDS is a group of blood cancers that affects approximately 300,000 people world-

wide, and 10,000 to 20,000 new cases of MDS are diagnosed each year in the United States.

To help ensure safe access to the clinical benefits of this important new therapy – to the 

maximum extent possible – we have made REVLIMID available from contracted pharmacies

under RevAssistSM, an industry-leading proprietary education and prescribing safety program.

We have also launched REVLIMID in the United States, with Europe positioned to follow.

REVLIMID and our other marketed products are providing a solid and growing revenue base

as we continue investing in our future through a rich pipeline of promising compounds.

We are committed to bringing important benefits of our innovative therapies to thousands

of people around the world. We are establishing broad patient support programs to help ensure

that patients will continue to have access to the clinical benefits that our innovative therapies can

provide. And we are working hard to rapidly advance promising new drugs for cancer and 

inflammatory-based diseases so that even more patients in need can be helped.

The REVLIMID revolution is just beginning! 
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The REVLIMID® Revolution –
Changing the Course!

C O N T E N T S

Corporate Information

Stockholder Information

Celgene common stock is traded on the NASDAQ National Market System.

NASDAQ Symbol: CELG. Celgene options are listed on the Chicago Board Options

Exchange. CBOE symbol: LQH.

As of April 4, 2006, there were 104,056 holders of record of the Company’s common 

stock. The following table sets forth the intra-day high and low sales price of the 

common stock for the periods indicated, as reported by the NASDAQ National 

Market System and has been adjusted to reflect the 2 for 1 stock split in February 2006.

2005 2004

High Low High Low

Fourth Quarter $32.68 22.59 $16.29 12.87

Third Quarter 29.41 19.77 15.05 11.66

Second Quarter 21.62 16.60 15.15 11.25

First Quarter 17.62 12.35 12.23 9.37

The price quotations set forth above represent prices to dealers and do not include 

retail markups, markdowns or commissions. Celgene has not paid, and does not 

anticipate paying in the near future, dividends on its common stock. Stockholders,

analysts and other representatives of the financial community wishing more 

information about Celgene should direct their inquiries to:

Investor Relations

Celgene Corporation

86 Morris Avenue

Summit, New Jersey 07901

(908) 673-9000

Annual Meeting

The annual meeting of stockholders of Celgene Corporation will be held on 

Wednesday, June 14, 2006, at Celgene Headquarters in Summit, NJ, at 1:00 P.M.

Form 10-K

Copies of the Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005 may be obtained 

by stockholders without charge upon written inquiry to the Corporate Secretary 

at the corporate headquarters.

Acelagraft™, Biovance™, and LifebankUSA™ are trademarks of Celgene Corporation       

REVLIMID®, IMiDs®, THALOMID® and S.T.E.P.S.® are registered trademarks of Celgene Corporation

RevAssist
SM

and PSS
SM

are registered service marks of Celgene Corporation

FOCALIN™ and FOCALIN-XR™ are trademarks of Novartis Pharma AG

Ritalin® is a registered trademark of Novartis Pharmaceuticals Corporation

ALKERAN® is a registered trademark of Glaxo SmithKline Corporation

PRMP™ is a trademark of Pharmion Corporation © Copyright 2006 Celgene Corporation

Corporate Headquarters

Celgene Corporation

86 Morris Avenue

Summit, NJ 07901

(908) 673-9000

Transfer Agent

American Stock Transfer 

& Trust Company

59 Maiden Lane

New York, New York 10039

Independent Auditors

KPMG LLP

150 John F. Kennedy Parkway

Short Hills, New Jersey 07078

Certain information 

contained in this annual 

report are forward looking 

statements. Factors that 

appear with the forward 

looking statements or in 

the Company’s Securities 

and Exchange Commission 

filings could cause the 

Company’s actual results 

to differ materially from 

those expressed in any 

forward looking statements 

in this annual report.

Visit our website at

www.celgene.com
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While cancer survival rates have improved steadily since the 1970s,

much more progress is still needed. This year alone, cancer will strike nearly

1.4 million Americans and an estimated 11 million people worldwide.

And because close to 600,000 people in the United States and nearly 7 million

worldwide are expected to die of cancer this year, Celgene and its more than

1,000 employees are working relentlessly to discover, develop and deliver innovative disease-altering therapies that

are helping people manage and survive incurable diseases. Our goal is to transform certain cancers into diseases

that are either curable or that can be managed as chronic conditions so that cancer patients can lead longer and

better quality lives.

Many diseases as varied as blood cancers, psoriasis and sickle cell anemia are incurable today; they are treated

with complex regimens and supportive care that are costly to the healthcare system and often difficult for patients

to endure. At Celgene, we are applying the latest advances in molecular and cellular research to develop novel 

therapies that target the mechanisms of disease at their source, and thereby create significantly improved outcomes

for patients.

20 years of 
innovation
1986 - 2006

Don & S.T.E.P.S.®

Norma &
Clinical Trials

Chet & REVLIMID®

Marjatta &
Expanded Access

Committed to Improving the Lives 
of Patients Worldwide
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Dedicated to bringing 
more disease-altering therapies 

to patients in need

C O M M I T M E N T

Celgene is committed to helping cancer patients – 10 million in the United States 

alone – and the many more patients who suffer from a wide range of debilitating 

diseases and disorders. In 2005, clinical investigators reported improved 

survival statistics from clinical trials for multiple myeloma patients 

treated with REVLIMID® and THALOMID® in various clinical trials.

Clinical results also clearly demonstrated that for MDS patients with a 

deletion 5q cytogenetic abnormality, REVLIMID reduced or even eliminated the need for blood transfusions.

Our long-term commitment to finding, developing and delivering entirely new classes of disease-

modifying therapies is evident in our deep and diverse pipeline of novel compounds. THALOMID, REVLIMID,

ALKERAN® and FOCALIN-XR™ are now available to patients, and we also have other promising compounds

under evaluation in our pre-clinical and clinical-stage pipeline of new drug candidates. Representing 

many classes of orally administered small-molecule therapeutic agents, these

compounds are designed to potentially alter the course of disease by selectively

regulating disease-associated genes and proteins. The richness of our pipeline

gives us the potential to continue discovering, developing and delivering 

innovative new therapies for years to come. During the past several years, we

have devoted nearly 40 percent of our total revenue to research and 

development, more than double the industry average. This investment has positioned us to employ world-

class scientists to pursue a large and diverse number of discovery and development programs with a single

goal in mind – to discover and deliver breakthrough therapies that significantly enhance the quality of life

and improve the prospects for critically ill patients worldwide.

Ultimately, we envision a world where most diseases can be cured. Until then, we are working to help

transform cancer and other diseases into conditions that can be managed.
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IMiDs®:
REVLIMID®: MDS deletion 5q (US)

REVLIMID: Multiple Myeloma (US)

REVLIMID: MDS deletion 5q (EMEA)

REVLIMID: Multiple Myeloma (EMEA)

REVLIMID: MDS deletion 5q (SWISS)

REVLIMID: MDS

REVLIMID: CLL

REVLIMID: NHL

REVLIMID: Solid Tumors

CC-4047: Sickle Cell Anemia

CC-4047: Myelofibrosis

CC-4047: Solid Tumors

CC-11006: Inflammatory/Immunological

CC-10015: Inflammatory

THALOMID®:
ENL

Multiple Myeloma

ALKERAN®: Multiple Myeloma/

Ovarian Cancer

Ritalin®/FOCALIN™:
FOCALIN: ADHD

Ritalin LA®: ADHD

FOCALIN XR™: ADHD

FOCALIN: Cancer Fatigue

Anti-Inflammatory:
CC-10004: Psoriasis

CC-11050: Inflammatory

Benzopyranes:
CC-8490: Cancer

CC-113: Cancer

Kinase Inhibitors:
JNK 401: Cancer/Inflammatory

JNK 359: Ischemia/Reperfusion

JNK 930: Fibrotic Diseases

Ligase Inhibitors:
E2 Ligase Inhibitor: Cancer

Stem Cells and Tissue Products:
Lifebank USA: Private Stem Cell Banking

Cord Blood Cells: Sickle Cell Anemia

BIOVANCE and Acelagraft™*

P R O D U C T  P I P E L I N E

Pre-clinical Phase 
I

Phase 
II

Phase 
III

FDA Filing 
FDA Approved &
*FDA Registered



Dear Fellow Shareholders:

In 2005 – our third full year of profitability – Celgene delivered extraordinary

results culminating with the FDA’s approval of REVLIMID® in the final week 

of December. Our highest corporate priorities for 2005 remained constant – 

to complete multiple major clinical trials and to submit compelling clinical

data to the FDA for review. The significance of the data produced in these 

trials and the subsequent FDA approval has positioned us well to accomplish 

our key 2006 corporate objectives.

Accelerating the Momentum 

The REVLIMID approval was not the only reason 2005 was an exceptional year 

for Celgene. The year was transforming in many respects. The Company

achieved outstanding results in its commercial operations and research and

clinical programs, as well as a solid financial performance. Accomplishments

included record total revenue and product sales; FDA approval of FOCALIN

XR™ as well as of REVLIMID; submission of our REVLIMID supplemental 

new drug application (sNDA) for multiple myeloma, and its subsequent 

acceptance for priority review by the FDA; acceptance of our REVLIMID 

application in Europe and Switzerland for deletion 5q myelodysplastic syndromes

(MDS); our 2005 Analyst Day; and the announcement of our leadership succession

plans.

Effective as of May 1, 2006, Sol J. Barer assumed the role of Chief Executive

Officer and Robert J. Hugin was appointed President and Chief Operating Officer of

Celgene Corporation. We have full confidence that our new leadership will embrace

the tradition of our firm’s unique culture and innovative spirit that will help 

transform the lives of so many people worldwide and Celgene on a global scale.

Our financial results for 2005 were strong, marked by record revenue and 

operating profits from multiple revenue streams. Total revenue for the year was

$536.9 million, an increase of 42 percent over 2004. THALOMID® sales were 

$387.8 million compared to $308.6 million in 2004, a 26 percent increase. Our 

revenue from the FOCALIN™ and Ritalin® family of drugs totaled $72.8 million, including a milestone payment 

of $20 million from Novartis for the FDA approval of FOCALIN XR. ALKERAN® sales reached $49.7 million, a

significant increase from the prior year.

THALOMID sales – the major contributor to our solid financial results – were driven by the growing volume

of positive clinical data reported in peer-reviewed medical journals and presented at major international medical

meetings. More than 100 clinical trials evaluating THALOMID worldwide were underway in 2005.

Most recently, unprecedented new clinical data on THALOMID further underscored its meaningful role as a

potential treatment for multiple myeloma. An independent data monitoring committee recommended unblinding
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Total Revenue
Dollars in Millions

536.9

John W. Jackson
Executive Chairman

“We are proud of our

assistance programs that

help ensure patients

access to the clinical 

benefits of our 

innovative therapies.”

114.2
135.7

377.5

271.5



the results from our pivotal Phase III trial evaluating THALOMID® as an oral combination therapy for the 

treatment of newly diagnosed multiple myeloma. The committee acted on these results because the clinical 

data overwhelmingly exceeded the pre-specified p<0.0015 value for stopping the trial for the primary endpoint

time-to-disease progression. Our sNDA seeking marketing approval for THALOMID as a treatment for newly 

diagnosed multiple myeloma is under review, and we expect FDA action by

late May 2006.

In 2005, to help ensure long-term, sustainable growth in new products

and revenue, and continue delivering on our commitment to improving

patients’ lives worldwide, we invested 36 percent of our revenue in research

and development. We accelerated the progress of key late-stage regulatory

programs, and advanced the work on promising compounds in early-stage

and pre-clinical development. We increased research and development 

investments in REVLIMID® Phase II and Phase III programs, designed to

expand the use of REVLIMID in the treatment of broad and diverse 

hematological and solid tumor cancers. As a consequence of our ongoing

investment in the enormous potential of our disease-altering science, we now

have a substantial pipeline of compounds. To date, we have received FDA

approval for three products; two of those three may receive approvals and/or

label expansions in the United States and Europe in 2006.

On December 27, 2005, the FDA approved REVLIMID as the first oral

targeted therapy for the treatment of patients with MDS with deletion 5q

cytogenetic abnormality with or without other cytogenetic abnormalities.

MDS is a group of blood cancers that affects approximately 300,000 people worldwide. In the United States,

according to the American Cancer Society, 10,000 to 20,000 new cases of MDS are

diagnosed each year. The majority of these MDS patients must often rely on blood

transfusions to manage symptoms of chronic anemia and fatigue until they develop

life-threatening iron overload and/or toxicity. This supportive-care approach 

underscores the critical unmet medical need for new therapies that can alter disease

by targeting the cause of the condition.

Executing the Plan

For 2006, our goal is clear: We have no higher priority than to execute the most 

successful drug launch for hematological cancers. The plans for building and executing

a “best-in-class” global launch of REVLIMID have been under development for 

several years. As we achieve greater understanding of MDS and the unique therapeutic

benefits of REVLIMID, we are continually refining our approach to increase access to REVLIMID. In fact, Celgene

has taken a global cross-functional approach to developing plans, initiatives and tools designed to help healthcare

providers improve the lives of MDS patients worldwide.

Our objective for REVLIMID® in the approved MDS indication is that it will supplant the current supportive-

care options and become the standard of care for low-risk and intermediate-1-risk MDS patients with a deletion

5q cytogenetic abnormality. Our imperatives for REVLIMID in deletion 5q MDS include educating the global

market about the disease and the therapeutic value of this product; partnering with advocacy groups to increase

Sol J. Barer, Ph.D.
Chief Executive Officer
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“The value and 

potential of our oncology

franchise is directly

dependent on the growing

body of unprecedented

clinical results.” 
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190.8
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84.9

160.9

122.7



disease awareness and patient access to effective therapeutic options; and facilitating a positive product experience for

patients and their healthcare providers.

We are encouraged about our launch and are pleased with our early results. Our Celgene commercial team is 

communicating the appropriate risk and benefit information, and we are effectively executing our clinical and 

regulatory plans. Moreover, we are evaluating REVLIMID®’s potential in other areas. REVLIMID in an open-label 

Phase II clinical study demonstrated promising activity in an expanded indication in MDS. We also have striking results

from two Phase III trials that tested REVLIMID in combination with dexamethasone versus dexamethasone alone in

pre-treated patients with multiple myeloma. We intend to complete several registration-quality trials that, if

positive, may lead to global marketing approvals of REVLIMID in multiple hematological malignancies,

including newly diagnosed multiple myeloma, chronic lymphocytic leukemia, aggressive non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma,

myelofibrosis and amyloidosis. Such approvals would potentially address unmet medical needs for more than one 

million patients worldwide.

A goal at Celgene is to be one of the world’s leading biopharmaceutical companies. We are a recognized leader in

the field of hematology, where we serve as a valuable resource for healthcare providers who treat patients with 

debilitating blood-borne diseases. The FDA approval of REVLIMID was a major milestone on our way to achieving this

objective. We established an industry-leading patient assistance program that provides free therapy to qualified

patients, and a Patient Support Solutions (PSS) program for the uninsured and the underinsured. We are currently 

conducting an Expanded Access Program – whereby we provide, under doctor supervision, free REVLIMID to patients

who suffer from relapsed or refractory multiple myeloma – while our REVLIMID sNDA is under review by the FDA.

Moreover, Celgene is also supporting several non-profit foundations that provide co-pay assistance to patients with

MDS or multiple myeloma. These foundations help patients regardless of the type of therapy selected by their treating

physicians. Assisting patients in need with access to the clinical benefits of our innovative medicines, and conducting

breakthrough research so that more life-enhancing therapies are available, are just some of

the ways Celgene is working hard every day to improve the lives of patients battling cancer

and other debilitating illnesses.

Securing the Future

We are making noteworthy progress across multiple areas of drug development. The major

objective of our clinical-trial programs is to broaden our knowledge of the full potential of

REVLIMID, and to evaluate and advance the promising potential of a broad range of other

innovative, proprietary new products. Our clinical-trial programs produced impressive

results in 2005. Data from these programs were highlighted at our Analyst Day conference

in November and at major medical meetings around the world. Highlighted at the annual

American Society of Hematology (ASH) meeting in December, clinical investigators 

representing leading cancer research centers reported unprecedented data from recent and ongoing clinical trials of

THALOMID® and REVLIMID in a broad range of indications, including multiple myeloma. The more than 100 abstracts

presented at the ASH meeting (in plenary, oral and poster sessions) accurately reflected the advances in our clinical 

programs. The presentations included 30 abstracts evaluating REVLIMID and 77 abstracts evaluating THALOMID.

We will continue to make substantial investments in promising compounds that have the potential to yield clinical

results of the kind presented throughout 2005. We are encouraged by what we accomplished in 2005 and are very 

excited about the opportunities that lie ahead.
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Cultivating a Global Culture

An important objective for 2005 was to accelerate the transformation of Celgene into a global biopharmaceutical company.

Toward that end, we established our international headquarters in Neuchâtel, Switzerland. We view the international 

markets as providing excellent opportunities for Celgene and our innovative drugs.

The substantially larger patient populations affected by MDS and multiple myeloma

in the developed markets outside of the United States, and the additional 

hematological indications under study, provide a great incentive to extend our 

global market presence.

To achieve this very important objective, it is paramount for us to continue 

to reinforce our global culture. Deeply embedded in the Celgene culture are 

innovation, creativity, and the development and empowerment of its people. The

global face of Celgene will be formed by people who genuinely have an opportunity

to shape their own future and their own success. To the extent they are able to do so,

our employees will directly influence the lives of cancer patients around the world

and the success of Celgene. We continue to attract world-class leadership critical to

the successful execution of our regulatory, clinical and commercial plans outside 

the United States, and we are now in the process of building our commercial 

infrastructure to support the potential launch of REVLIMID in targeted countries

around the world. We are encouraged by the progress made thus far in building 

a world-class international organization designed to move quickly following 

regulatory approvals.

In 2006, we expect to make great progress across all areas of Celgene, and we are preparing for a promising future.

We believe that REVLIMID is well on its way to becoming a revolutionary drug. It has the potential to transform 

the standard of care for treating patients worldwide for a variety of cancers, and the ability to transform Celgene 

globally. As we launch REVLIMID, Celgene is positioned better than ever. THALOMID® and our other marketed 

products provide a solid and growing revenue base. We are well prepared to effectively launch REVLIMID in the

United States, Europe, Australia and Canada following approval.

We recognize that the many positive results achieved to date are the product of a determined, dedicated and 

accomplished team at Celgene, our stakeholders and our partners. We wish to acknowledge the invaluable counsel 

that Frank T. Cary contributed over the past 20 years as a trusted advisor and good friend to all of us at Celgene.

We also welcome the addition of Rodman L. Drake to the Company’s Board of Directors and look forward 

to his valuable contributions.

To all of you, we are grateful for your extraordinary support and efforts.
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Robert J. Hugin
President & Chief Operating Officer

“As we launch 

REVLIMID®, 

Celgene is 

positioned better 

than ever.”

John W. Jackson Sol J. Barer, Ph.D. Robert J. Hugin
Executive Chairman Chief Executive Officer President & Chief Operating Officer



Changing the course of disease –
by targeting the source,

not the symptoms

B R E A K T H R O U G H  T H E R A P I E S

There are few things that cause patients more fear and uncertainty than a cancer 

diagnosis. Our mission at Celgene is to develop innovative, disease-altering therapies 

that create better overall outcomes for patients, and which will reduce the burden 

on healthcare resources. IMiDs® compounds, our proprietary class of novel 

immunomodulatory compounds, address the underlying causes of diseases 

that they treat through multiple mechanisms of action, not just the symptoms. Our innovative pipeline also

includes other classes of new compounds offering promise for the future.

REVLIMID® (lenalidomide), our first approved IMiDs compound, received approval in 2005 for patients

with transfusion-dependent myelodysplastic syndromes (MDS) with deletion 5q

chromosomal abnormalities. Because REVLIMID is orally available and can be

taken at home, it gives back to patients the time they would otherwise have 

to spend in the doctor’s office or clinic receiving blood transfusions. Clinical 

studies have shown that in two-thirds of these MDS patients, taking REVLIMID

eliminated the need for time-consuming, debilitating and invasive blood 

transfusions. In addition, in more than half of the cytogenetic responders,

treatment with REVLIMID eliminated cytogenetic abnormalities (i.e., genetically

abnormal cells) from the patients’ bone marrow. In 2005, a peer-reviewed study

published in The New England Journal of Medicine showed that after more than two years of follow-up, the

patients studied had not yet reached the expected median duration of response. For these patients, the clinical

benefit of REVLIMID was truly immeasurable.

REVLIMID is also under review as a combination therapy (i.e., administered with other therapies) for 

treating relapsed or refractory multiple myeloma. A supplementary new drug application (sNDA) for this 

indication was filed with the FDA in late December. Multiple myeloma is a blood cancer in which plasma cells

– important components of the immune system – replicate uncontrollably and accumulate in the bone 
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When chronic fatigue in 2001 kept Chet Hodge

from his favorite hobby, building and flying model

airplanes, this electrical engineer took action. 

“I was extremely tired and fatigued, and sought

medical treatment.” After learning the diagnosis

was myelodysplastic syndromes with the 

deletion 5q abnormality, Chet began finding out

all he could about this form of blood cancer.

With medical options limited, he began receiving

blood transfusions every five or six weeks. 

Then, in April 2002, his doctor suggested he

take REVLIMID, available through a clinical trial.

Within three weeks, his blood levels stabilized

and he no longer required transfusions. “I kept 

a detailed journal of my blood counts, and

watched the levels gradually going up. After 

a while, the fatigue began to diminish and 

then disappeared completely.” 

Now, Chet is in good health and enjoys 

navigating his hand-built planes in the skies 

over the desert. “Today, I’m feeling pretty good.”

Chet & REVLIMID
®
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marrow. It afflicts more than 200,000

people worldwide, and is the second

most common blood cancer. In early

March of 2006, the FDA granted the

establishing a Prescription Drug User

Fee Act (PDUFA) date of June 30, 2006.

Furthermore, Celgene has created an

industry-leading Expanded Access

Program allowing qualified patients

throughout North America with

relapsed or refractory multiple myeloma

broad access to the potential clinical

benefits of REVLIMID while our

sNDA is under FDA review.

The vast body of clinical data

around our products continues to expand and drive the growing use of those products. At the December 2005

meeting of the American Society of Hematology (ASH), investigators reported clinical data from our pivotal

North American Phase III trial showing that the combination of REVLIMID

plus dexamethasone led to a statistically significant improvement (compared

with dexamethasone alone) in overall survival among multiple myeloma

patients. The data also showed that median overall survival in patients treated

with REVLIMID plus dexamethasone still had not been reached. Earlier in the

year, based on these impressive data, both the U.S. and the international

REVLIMID myeloma trials were unblinded and all patients enrolled were

given the opportunity to take REVLIMID. Going forward, we expect new and maturing data to be presented at

major medical meetings around the world, and to be reported in major peer-reviewed publications.

Overall, the 2005 ASH meeting was our most successful to date, with more than 100 abstracts presented on

THALOMID® as well as REVLIMID. The data were reported in 23 oral presentations and one plenary session.

In 2006, we expect to see a continuation of the substantial clinical data flow on Celgene products at major 

international medical meetings, including those of the American Society of Clinical Oncology, American Society

of Hematology, European Hematology Association and European Conference on Clinical Oncology.
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“We believe that positive

developments around

REVLIMID are the prelude

to a very exciting and

promising future for

IMiDs® compounds.”

Phase I Phase II Phase III Filing / Market

REVLIMID: MDS deletion 5q

REVLIMID: MDS

REVLIMID: Multiple Myeloma

REVLIMID: CLL

REVLIMID: Non-Hodgkin’s 
Lymphoma

REVLIMID: Myelofibrosis

REVLIMID: Amyloidosis

REVLIMID: Ovarian

REVLIMID: NSCLC

REVLIMID: Renal

REVLIMID: Prostate

REVLIMID® Clinical Pipeline

More than 50 clinical trials worldwide are currently evaluating REVLIMID 
for use in treating a wide range of diseases, from malignant blood 
disorders to solid tumor cancers.

REVLIMID sNDA a priority review,



While REVLIMID® has shown very impressive results in MDS and multiple myeloma, it also has potential far

beyond these initial indications. There are more than 50 ongoing clinical trials evaluating REVLIMID across 

a broad range of diseases, including chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL), non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma (NHL),

myelofibrosis, primary-systemic amyloidosis and T-cell lymphoma as well as other 

hematological malignancies and solid tumor cancers. The early data have been encouraging.

In 2006, we expect to proceed with design and preliminary studies for registration trials for

both CLL and NHL. Additionally, based on a high level of clinical interest in REVLIMID,

we anticipate that a number of these studies will result in peer-reviewed publications in

2006 and 2007 as well.

THALOMID® (thalidomide) is the driving force behind our Company’s growth, while

also supporting our extensive patient support services, our risk-management 

programs and our research and development programs. THALOMID first received FDA approval in 1998 for an

inflammatory condition associated with leprosy. Today, THALOMID is being evaluated in more than 100 clinical

studies worldwide for use in combating hematological and solid tumor cancers. As a result of continued 

investigational interest in this compound, important clinical data continue to be reported at major international

medical meetings and to be published in peer-reviewed medical journals.

Like REVLIMID, THALOMID is administered orally. In addition, it is being studied toward the objective 

of delaying the need for expensive and invasive bone marrow transplants. In January 2006, an independent data-

monitoring safety board unblinded the Celgene pivotal, international trial of THALOMID plus dexamethasone 

for the treatment of newly diagnosed multiple myeloma. The primary endpoint, time-to-disease progression,

was approximately three times as long for the THALOMID arm as for the control arm.

Through a supplementary new drug application filed with the FDA, THALOMID is presently under review 

as a combination therapy for the treatment of newly diagnosed multiple myeloma. FDA action is expected by 

May 25, 2006.

We believe that positive developments around REVLIMID are the prelude to a very exciting and promising

future for IMiDs® compounds. Based on a decade of research, we have learned that by changing the molecular 

structure of each IMiDs compound, we have the potential to address specific clinical and biological properties

necessary for changing the course of a disease. CC-4047 is being advanced in sickle cell anemia and solid tumor

cancers. CC-11006 is similar in its mechanism of action to REVLIMID and optimizes its positive attributes. The

IMiDs compounds are also demonstrating important utility beyond cancer. CC-10015 crosses the 

blood-brain barrier and shows potential in treating inflammatory diseases and malignancies of the central 

nervous system. With all this and more, it is highly possible that the “next REVLIMID” may be within our 

growing library of these very important promising new compounds.
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A routine blood test in 2003 provided

Marjatta Doherty, a native of Finland, 

with a reason for her tiredness. But further 

evaluation by her physician found that the

anemia she was suffering from was actually

due to a plasma cell disorder and was a 

precursor to multiple myeloma - a diagnosis

she ultimately received in July 2004. 

Last summer, when she began 

experiencing pain in her collarbone, the 

need for aggressive treatment was evident.

Marjatta’s hematologist recommended she

begin a regimen that included REVLIMID®,

available through a Celgene Expanded

Access Program, and it proved successful

for her. 

Today Marjatta can once again enjoy

quilting, a passion she has had since 1985.

“I am grateful that I took REVLIMID and 

that it has worked so well for me. My doctor

said he thought it would be perfect for me,

and he was right.”

Marjatta & Expanded Access 
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Putting patients first –
by ensuring broad access to the

clinical benefits of our innovative therapies

P A T I E N T  S U P P O R T

Celgene has created industry-leading programs to provide qualified patients with 

information, support and access to our innovative therapies, because we believe that all

patients should be able to benefit from the advances in the prevention, detection and 

treatment of cancer.

For MDS patients with deletion 5q chromosomal abnormalities with or without 

additional abnormalities, REVLIMID® is available through RevAssistSM, a risk-management

and distribution program developed by Celgene. (See “Safety” on page 14.) Under this 

program, contracted pharmacies dispense REVLIMID prescriptions, educate patients about

possible side effects and assist patients and physicians with questions about insurance 

coverage under specific insurance carrier plans.

Celgene works closely with third-party organizations to provide coverage for oral oncology drugs 

prescribed for cancer patients in need. Today, REVLIMID and THALOMID® qualify for coverage under the

Medicare Prescription Drug Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003. However, each specific Medicare 

Part D plan will review REVLIMID and THALOMID for inclusion in its own formulary.

For patients who do not have insurance that covers REVLIMID or THALOMID, Celgene has created the

Patient Support Solutions (PSS) program which makes Celgene products available to individuals with limited

income and assets. Celgene also provides financial support to the Partnership for Prescription Assistance, a 

program of the Pharmaceutical Research and Manufacturers of America, for people who lack prescription 

coverage and cannot afford the treatments they desperately need.

For patients who do not qualify for free products, the PSS program provides referrals to state assistance 

programs and not-for-profit foundations. For patients who cannot afford the co-payment on their prescription

coverage, Celgene provides funding to foundations that manage independent co-pay assistance programs.

For multiple myeloma patients who qualify for access to REVLIMID prior to its approval for that disease,

and who cannot participate in a clinical trial, Celgene has taken the added step of making REVLIMID available 

to qualified patients through an Expanded Access Program (EAP).

For more information on the Celgene PSS program, visit www.pssprogram.com.

Under Medicare rules, May 15 is the last day to join a Medicare Rx prescription drug plan offering coverage

for 2006 without incurring a late enrollment fee. To learn more about enrollment and the choices offered under

Medicare’s prescription drug benefit, call 1-800-MEDICARE or visit www.medicare.gov.
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Ensuring patients
safe access to the

maximum extent possible

S A F E T Y

We believe it is important to deliver new breakthrough therapies to

patients who need them, and equally important to ensure patients safe access

to the drugs’ clinical benefits. To complement the approval of REVLIMID® in

2005, Celgene created the RevAssistSM program to provide for patient education

and safety while ensuring relatively prompt and convenient access to REVLIMID.

Under the RevAssist program, REVLIMID will be dispensed through a 

network of contracted pharmacies where trained nurses and pharmacists 

educate patients about potential risks before a prescription can be filled.

While RevAssist was specifically tailored for REVLIMID, it derives from

our experience with our innovative System for Thalidomide Education and Prescribing Safety, or S.T.E.P.S.®,

the first patented, FDA-approved risk-management drug distribution program.

Since its inception in 1998, S.T.E.P.S. has made it possible for more

than 130,000 patients with various life-threatening and debilitating diseases 

to receive the potential therapeutic benefits of THALOMID. In turn, S.T.E.P.S.

has become one of the most widely recognized, industry-leading programs 

for both patient safety and access. In late 2004, Celgene concluded non-

exclusive licensing agreements with the manufacturers of isotretinoin. These

companies now can make use of certain Celgene S.T.E.P.S. use-patents to

develop risk-management programs that deliver this drug with important 

therapeutic benefits, but also has potentially serious side effects. Because 

of the licensing agreements, patients can expect to take advantage of these risk-management distribution 

programs this year.

S.T.E.P.S., and now RevAssist, reflect the Company’s long-standing working partnership with government,

advocacy groups and industry partners. They also reflect our commitment to both support patient access to 

innovative therapies and ensure that these therapies are prescribed appropriately.



When Don Baylor was diagnosed with 

multiple myeloma, his first response was that 

he didn’t want to miss any games. The most 

valuable player in American League baseball in

1979, Don was a coach with the New York Mets

when, following a routine spring training physical 

in March 2003, he received the diagnosis. Based

on clinical data presented at major medical 

meetings and in peer-reviewed journals, Don’s

doctor prescribed THALOMID® for his condition,

available under the Celgene System for Thalidomide

Education and Prescribing Safety, or S.T.E.P.S.

This program enabled Don to receive the benefits 

of THALOMID, while ensuring his adherence to a

strict safety management program. 

Today, this legendary baseball player and 

coach spends time on a golf course, playing 

golf about three or four times a week, and is 

feeling great. 

Don & S.T.E.P.S.®
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Gardening, dancing and singing in her church

choir filled Norma Travis’ days and life. But when

she was diagnosed with multiple myeloma in August

2001, all those activities came to an abrupt stop. 

“I was in so much pain – on a scale of one to ten, 

I was at 12.” Norma knew nothing about multiple

myeloma, but learned all she could about this 

illness. And after exhausting other options, 

her physician recommended she enroll in 

a clinical trial for REVLIMID®. 

The value of this decision proved 

to be immeasurable for Norma, and 

hundreds of patients like her, who 

have access to the clinical 

benefits of REVLIMID through 

clinical trials. 

These days, Norma is living a full 

and active life, which includes tending 

to her flower garden. “REVLIMID has 

brought my whole life back.”

Norma & Clinical Trials
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Next-generation therapies 
delivering quality outcomes 

for better healthcare

I N N O V A T I V E S C I E N C E

Celgene continues to develop one of the strongest pipelines in the 

biopharmaceutical industry. We are focusing on life-threatening diseases or 

chronic debilitating conditions for which current therapies are inadequate. We

believe that innovative approaches to gene regulation and immunomodulation

may result in therapies that benefit patients’ lives. Building on our growing 

knowledge of the biology behind hematological and solid tumor cancers and 

neuroimmune and inflammatory diseases, we are investing in a range of

innovative therapeutic programs and investigating ways to attack the disease

source through multiple mechanisms of action and intracellular pathways.

The IMiDs® Compounds – an Incredibly Powerful Group of Small Molecules

Our portfolio of IMiDs compounds includes REVLIMID® and hundreds of other

immunomodulatory compounds. These compounds are structurally and clinically distinct from THALOMID®

and have greater safety and potency with reduced side effects. The exciting results demonstrated by 

REVLIMID in hematological cancers, and its approval by the FDA for one type of MDS, clearly validate the 

potential of our rich IMiDs pipeline. This pipeline offers hope to patients for the future long-term management

of cancer and debilitating immunoinflammatory diseases, and it represents commercial promise for Celgene and

its shareholders.

Our lead compounds now in human testing include REVLIMID, CC-4047, CC-11006 and CC-10015.

REVLIMID is in multiple late-stage clinical trials and continues to show meaningful clinical data across a broad

range of hematological malignancies including multiple myeloma, chronic lymphocytic leukemia, non-Hodgkin’s 

lymphoma, myelodysplastic syndromes, myelofibrosis, amyloidosis and T-cell lymphoma.

CC-4047 is an orally administered small molecule, and one of our most potent IMiDs compounds under

development. We are planning Phase II trials to determine the safety and efficacy of CC-4047 as a potential 

treatment for myelofibrosis and sickle cell anemia. CC-4047 and REVLIMID have different mechanism-of-action

profiles, which may lead to their evaluation in different diseases or different stages of the same disease.

CC-11006 is an oral compound that Celgene has identified as a potential treatment for hematological 

malignancies and chronic inflammatory diseases. Many of these diseases, such as inflammatory interstitial 

pulmonary fibrosis and scleroderma, are largely untreatable today. CC-11006 entered clinical trials in late 2005,

and we will evaluate our development options upon their completion.

CC-10015 is a potent, orally administered IMiDs compound that has shown the ability to penetrate the 
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central nervous system (CNS) in multiple animal models. We expect CC-10015 to enter Phase I clinical testing 

in CNS-related immunological or inflammatory diseases by the end of 2006.

Looking beyond these initial compounds, Celgene will continue to make a substantial investment 

in immunomodulatory compounds designed with different attributes and offering exciting clinical potential in

both oncology and non-oncology applications. In addition, Company scientists are honing in on the precise 

cellular and molecular mechanisms that are IMiDs® compounds targets. This research will lead to a more 

thorough understanding of IMiDs biology resulting in new clinical and commercial applications.

Next-Generation Drug Discovery Programs 

In addition to our IMiDs compounds-related research, we have five other drug discovery programs that 

contribute to our robust pipeline. The first of these programs is devoted to providing a novel oral approach to 

chronic inflammatory diseases. CC-10004, our lead investigational drug in this class, is a novel, orally available

small molecule that inhibits the production of multiple pro-inflammatory mediators including PDE-4,

TNF-alpha, interleukin-2 , interferon-gamma, leukotrienes and nitric oxide synthase. Based on promising results

from Phase II proof-of-principle clinical trials, Celgene is advancing the clinical development of CC-10004 for

moderate-to-severe plaque-type psoriasis.

An exciting program that focuses on the protein degradation pathway within the cell is positioning Celgene

to be at the leading edge of research to discover new potential breakthrough therapies. At Celgene Research 

San Diego, we are identifying drug targets and compounds that regulate the ubiquitin ligase pathway, with the 

goal of controlling cellular proliferation and survival. Such compounds have the potential to be an important 

new class of anti-cancer and anti-

inflammatory therapeutics.

The Promise of Cell-Signaling

Research

Several of our most important 

and exciting programs are in cell-

signaling research. Cell-signaling 

targets comprise a variety of

enzymes including kinases,

phosphatases and ligases, as well 

as transcription factors, and more

than 1,000 of these molecular 

targets are suitable for drug 

development. Celgene is well 

positioned to compete effectively in

this field with a strong program and

intellectual property estate.

Target
Validation

Assay
Development

High
Throughput 
Screening

Hit 
Validation

Early
SAR

Full
SAR

IND
Product 

Candidate

JNK (CC-401, AML)

BZP (CC-8490, Cancer)

JNK (CC-359, I/R)

BZP (CC-113, Cancer)

JNK (CC-930)

IKK2

b-Raf

p27 E3 Ligase

PLK

PKCO

mTOR

IKK2 (2nd gen)

ß-Trcp E3 Ligase

IKKI

Tyk2

Discovery and Early Stage Product Pipeline
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Three of the compounds we are currently evaluating are inhibitors of c-Jun N-terminal kinase, or JNK,

which has been associated with a number of key clinical indications in cancer and inflammation. These indications

represent unmet medical needs. CC-401, our lead JNK candidate, is currently in a Phase I trial targeting acute

myeloid leukemia. CC-359 is a long-acting compound that is under evaluation for treating ischemia and reperfu-

sion injury. And a third JNK compound, CC-930, is being evaluated as a potential treatment for fibrosis. Beyond

these exciting opportunities, we are pursuing a number of other kinase inhibitors, all of which can be used for very

distinct diseases, for example, acute inflammation and cancer (bRAF, IKK2, mTOR) and T-cell-mediated diseases

and chronic inflammation (IKK1, PKC�, TYK2).

Another exciting area of research is our discovery program in the NFkB pathway, which plays a critical role

in cell proliferation and various aspects of metastasis and angiogenesis, and is emerging as a possible link

between chronic inflammation and cancer. Celgene Research San Diego has been establishing a substantial

position in this field for a number of years.

The Frontier of Medicine – Placental Stem Cell Research 

Celgene Cellular Therapeutics is devoted to research on stem cells derived from human placentas and umbilical

cord blood, both of which are non-controversial, readily available sources of stem cells. Our studies of placental

stem cells over the past three years have uncovered a variety of biological activities with great therapeutic promise.

Our scientists have further characterized stem cells as

expressing specific properties, including cell surface 

markers critical to immunotolerance. These very 

important discoveries will serve as a basis for a 

tremendous amount of novel intellectual property.

One of the most exciting properties of the IMiDs®

compounds is the powerful impact they appear to have

on stem cells. In hemoglobinopathies such as sickle 

cell anemia, our scientists have shown that IMiDs 

compounds can interact with stem cells and modulate

them in such a way that they differentiate into erythro-

cytes, red blood cells. We have also discovered a method

of expanding the stem cell population in cord blood, to

help generate the increased number of stem cells that

may be necessary for therapeutic dosing to treat patients

with cancer and other indications in the future.

At Celgene, we are in a unique position that allows

us to study and develop both small molecules that today

offer the potential to turn complex diseases into manageable chronic illnesses, and stem cell therapies that may

hold the promise of a future cure for diseases that are incurable now. Clearly, the research we are conducting today

could provide a critical advantage for Celgene as we move ahead.
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International capabilities in 
manufacturing, clinical development

and commercial operations

G L O B A L  T R A N S F O R M A T I O N

In 2005, we saw the emergence of a global Celgene. Building on the impressive

clinical data reported for REVLIMID®, we submitted a Marketing Authorization

Application (MAA) in Europe for its use in MDS associated with a deletion 5q 

cytogenetic abnormality, following the same strategy that won approval in the

United States. That filing has been accepted by the European Medicines Agency

(EMEA) for review, and we have applied for similar marketing authorization in

Switzerland. We expect regulatory filings in other international markets, and talks

with Japan and Canada are underway. In addition, our filing of an MAA in Europe for REVLIMID in the 

treatment of relapsed or refractory multiple myeloma was accepted by the EMEA for review in April 2006.

We began launch preparations for REVLIMID in anticipation of marketing approval in Europe and other 

key international markets. To support this effort, we have brought together a world-class leadership team,

including general managers in each of our key countries, who are building our worldwide operations. We

established Celgene International Sárl headquarters in Neuchâtel, Switzerland, and the construction of a

REVLIMID GMP manufacturing facility in Neuchâtel is underway.

We are establishing drug access initiatives outside the United States as well

ensuring broad access to the clinical benefits of our innovative therapies.

Access programs such as our Name Patient and our Expanded Access Programs offer

European patients in need access to REVLIMID while the EMEA reviews our 

application seeking marketing approval for REVLIMID as a treatment for relapsed or

refractory multiple myeloma.

As we establish a global footprint, we are building on a solid foundation.

In 2005, our third year as a profitable company, total revenue was a record $536.9 million. That represents a 

42 percent increase in total revenue from 2004, and a 35 percent increase in total product sales. We also achieved

a 100 percent increase in adjusted operating income year-over-year. In 2005, Celgene was added to the Nasdaq-

100 Index®, and in its first year on that index, Celgene was reported as its best performing stock.

Today, the Company is emerging as a globally integrated and culturally diverse biopharmaceutical company

with clinical operations in nearly 17 countries around the world. As a testament to the innovation and quality of

our science-based business and potential of newly emerging therapies, Celgene has been able to attract employees

of the highest caliber. We are gratified that these individuals have decided to build their careers at Celgene.

These highly skilled and experienced employees are working together to support clinical development and 

commercial objectives, creating a unique Celgene culture worldwide.
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John W. Jackson 
Executive Chairman

John W. Jackson has been our Chairman of the Board since January 1996 and is the Chairman of the Executive

Committee of our Board of Directors. Mr. Jackson served as Chief Executive Officer from January 1996 to May 1,

2006. From February 1991 to January 1996, Mr. Jackson was President of Gemini Medical, a consulting firm that he

founded which focused on medical device company strategy and investment advice. Previously, Mr. Jackson had

been President of the worldwide Medical Device Division of American Cyanamid, a major pharmaceutical company, from February

1986 to January 1991, and served in various international positions, including Vice President - International for American Cyanamid

from 1978 to 1986. Mr. Jackson served in several human health-marketing positions at Merck & Company, a major pharmaceutical

company, from 1971 to 1978. Mr. Jackson received a B.A. degree from Yale University and an M.B.A. from INSEAD, France.

Sol J. Barer, Ph.D.
Chief Executive Officer 

Sol J. Barer, Ph.D. has been our Chief Executive Officer since May 1, 2006, one of our Directors since March 1994,

and is a member of the Executive Committee of our Board of Directors. Dr. Barer served as President from October

1993 to May 1, 2006, and our Chief Operating Officer from March 1994 to May 1, 2006. Dr. Barer was Senior Vice

President - Science and Technology and Vice President/General Manager - Chiral Products from October 1990 to

October 1993 and our Vice President - Technology from September 1987 to October 1990. Dr. Barer received a Ph.D. in organic and 

physical chemistry from Rutgers University. Dr. Barer is a Director of Semorex, Inc. and is the Chair of the Rutgers Graduate School

Dean’s Advisory Council.

Robert J. Hugin 
President and Chief Operating Officer 

Robert J. Hugin has been our President and Chief Operating Officer since May 1, 2006, and was elected by the 

Board of Directors to serve as one of our Directors in December 2001. Mr. Hugin served as Senior Vice President 

and Chief Financial Officer from June 1999 to May 1, 2006. Previously, Mr. Hugin had been a Managing Director at 

J.P. Morgan & Co. Inc., which he joined in 1985. He received an A.B. degree from Princeton University in 1976 and

an M.B.A. from the University of Virginia in 1985 having served as a United States Marine Corps infantry officer during the 

intervening period. Mr. Hugin is also a Director of The Medicines Company, Coley Pharmaceutical Group and Family Promise,

a national non-profit network assisting homeless families.

Jack L. Bowman 
Previously Group Chairman of Johnson & Johnson and Executive Vice President of American Cyanamid

Jack L. Bowman has been one of our Directors since April 1998, and is the Chairman of the Nominating and

Governance Committee of our Board of Directors and a member of the Management Compensation and

Development Committee. Mr. Bowman served as Company Group Chairman of Johnson & Johnson from 1987 to

1994. From 1983 to 1987, Mr. Bowman served as Executive Vice President of American Cyanamid. Mr. Bowman is

also a Director of Targeted Genetics and AVI BioPharma, Inc.

Board of Directors
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In Memoriam

Frank T. Cary, a member of the Celgene Board of Directors since 1987, died on January 1, 2006.

Mr. Cary had been Chairman of the Executive Committee of the Board of Directors since 1990, was a 

member of both the Nominating and Governance Committees, and also was a member of the 

Management Compensation and Development Committee. Throughout his tenure at Celgene,

Mr. Cary provided invaluable experience, guidance, and insight, and served as a trusted advisor 

and friend. He will be truly missed by his friends and colleagues at Celgene.



Michael D. Casey 
Former President and Chief Executive Officer of Matrix Pharmaceutical, Inc.

Michael D. Casey has served as one of our Directors since August 2002 and is a member of the Nominating and

Governance Committee and the Audit Committee. From September 1997 to February 2002, Mr. Casey served as the

Chairman, President, Chief Executive Officer and a Director of Matrix Pharmaceutical, Inc. From November 1995 

to September 1997, Mr. Casey was Executive Vice President at Schein Pharmaceutical, Inc. In December 1996, he 

was appointed President of the Retail and Specialty Products Division of Schein. From June 1993 to November 1995,

he served as President and Chief Operating Officer of Genetic Therapy, Inc. Mr. Casey was President of McNeil Pharmaceutical (a unit

of Johnson & Johnson) from 1989 to June 1993 and Vice President, Sales and Marketing for Ortho Pharmaceutical Corp. (a subsidiary

of Johnson & Johnson) from 1985 to 1989. Mr. Casey is also a Director of Allos Therapeutics, Inc., Cholestech Corporation,

OrthoLogic Corp. and Durect Corp.

Rodman L. Drake
Managing Director CIP Management

Rodman L. Drake was named to the Celgene Board of Directors in April 2006, and serves as a member of the

Nominating and Audit Committees. Mr. Drake has been Managing Director of CIP Management since 1997 and

serves on the investment committee for its Resource Capital Funds group. Prior to that, he was Co-Chairman for the

KMR Power Company and Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director of Cresap McCormick and Paget.

In addition, Mr. Drake is a Director of Jackson Hewitt, Student Loan Corporation, Parsons Brinckerhoff, Hyperion Funds, Excelsior

Funds, and Animal Medical Center in New York.

Arthur Hull Hayes, Jr., M.D.
Former Commissioner of the U.S. Food and Drug Administration

Arthur Hull Hayes, Jr., M.D., one of our Directors since 1995 and a member of the Audit Committee of our Board 

of Directors, was President and Chief Operating Officer of MediScience Associates, a consulting organization that

works with pharmaceutical firms, biomedical companies and foreign governments, from July 1991 to January 

2006, and Clinical Professor of Medicine and Pharmacology at the Pennsylvania State University College of Medicine

from 1981 to 2004. From 1986 to 1990, Dr. Hayes was President and Chief Executive Officer of E.M. Pharmaceuticals, a unit of

E. Merck AG, and from 1981 to 1983 was Commissioner of the U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Dr. Hayes also is a Director of

Myriad Genetics, Inc., Tapestry, Inc.

Professor and Full Member In the Laboratory of Mycobacterial Immunity and 

Pathogenesis at the Public Health Research Institute

Gilla Kaplan, Ph.D., one of our Directors since April 1998 and a member of the Audit Committee of our Board of

Directors, is head of the Laboratory of Mycobacterial Immunity and Pathogenesis at The Public Health Research

Institute in Newark, New Jersey, where she was appointed full member in 2002. Dr. Kaplan is also Professor of

Medicine and Professor at UMDNJ. Previously, Dr. Kaplan was an Immunologist in the Laboratory of Cellular Physiology and

Immunology at The Rockefeller University in New York where she was an Associate Professor.

Richard C.E. Morgan 
Chief Executive Officer of Amphion Innovations PLC

Richard C.E. Morgan has been one of our Directors since 1987, and is Chairman of the Management Compensation

and Development Committee and a member of the Executive Committee of our Board of Directors. Mr. Morgan is 

the Chief Executive Officer of Amphion Innovations PLC. Mr. Morgan serves on the Board of Directors of Axcess

Inc. and several other private companies. He is also a member of the board of Orbis International, Inc.

President of Vantage Management Inc., Previously Senior Vice President for 

Corporate Research and Development of General Electric Company

Walter L. Robb, Ph.D., one of our Directors since 1992 and the Chairman of the Audit Committee of our Board of

Directors, has been a private consultant and President of Vantage Management Inc., a consulting and investor services

company, since January 1993. Dr. Robb was Senior Vice President for Corporate Research and Development of

General Electric Company, and a member of its Corporate Executive Council from 1986 to December 1992. Dr. Robb is Chairman of

the Board of Directors of Capital District Sports. He is also a Director of Mechanical Technology, Inc. and several private companies.
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Gilla Kaplan, Ph.D.

Walter L. Robb   , Ph.D.
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Selected Consolidated Financial Data

The following Selected Consolidated Financial Data should be read in conjunction with our Consolidated Financial Statements and the

related Notes thereto, Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and other financial

information included elsewhere in this Annual Report.  The data set forth below with respect to our Consolidated Statement of

Operations for the year ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 and the Consolidated Balance Sheet data as of December 31, 2005

and 2004 are derived from our Consolidated Financial Statements which are included elsewhere in this Annual Report and are quali-

fied by reference to such Consolidated Financial Statements and related Notes thereto. The data set forth below with respect to our

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 and the Consolidated Balance Sheets data as

of December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 are derived from our Consolidated Financial Statements, which are not included elsewhere in

this Annual Report.  Our historical results are not necessarily indicative of future results of operations.

Years Ended December 31,
(In thousands, except per share data) 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS DATA:

Total revenue $0536,941 $0377,502 $0271,475 $0135,746 $0114,243 

Costs and operating expenses 453,357 334,774 274,124 250,367 139,186 

Other income, net 7,551 20,443 28,310 23,031 20,807 

Equity in losses of associated company 6,923 — — — —

Income tax provision (benefit) 20,556 10,415 718 (98) (1,232) 

Income (loss) from continuing operations 63,656 52,756 24,943 (91,492) (2,904)   

Discontinued operations:

Gain on sale of chiral assets — — 750 1,000 992

Net income (loss) applicable to common stockholders $0063,656 $    52,756 $0025,693 $0,(90,492) $00,(1,912)

Income (loss) from continuing operations per common share(1):

Basic   $00000.19 $00000.16 $00000.08 $000,(0.30) $000,(0.01)

Diluted $00000.18 $00000.15 $00000.07 $000,(0.30) $000,(0.01)

Discontinued operations per common share(1):

Basic     $00000,— $00000,— $00000.01 $00000,— $00000,—

Diluted $00000,— $00000,— $00000.01 $00000,— $00000,—

Net income (loss) applicable to common stockholders(1):

Basic  $00000.19 $00000.16 $00000.08 $000,(0.29) $000,(0.01)

Diluted $00000.18 $00000.15 $00000.08 $000,(0.29) $000,(0.01)

Weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding(1):

Basic 335,512 327,738 323,548 309,348 300,432 

Diluted 390,585 345,710 341,592 309,348 300,432 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS DATA

Cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities $0724,260 $0748,537 $0666,967 $0261,182 $0310,041  

Total assets 1,246,637 1,107,293 813,026 336,795 353,982 

Long-term obligations under capital

leases and equipment notes payable 2 4 16 40 46 

Convertible notes 399,984 400,000   400,000   — 11,714 

Accumulated deficit (170,754) (234,410) (287,166) (312,859) (222,367)

Stockholders’ equity 635,775 477,444 331,744 281,814 310,425

(1) Amounts have been adjusted for the two-for-one stock splits effected in February 2006 and October 2004.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Introduction
We are a multi-national integrated biopharmaceutical

company primarily engaged in the discovery, development and
commercialization of innovative therapies designed to treat
cancer and immune-inflammatory related diseases. Our lead
products are: REVLIMID®, which gained recent FDA approval in
MDS patients with the 5q chromosomal deletion and is under
review by the FDA for multiple myeloma, and THALOMID®
(thalidomide), which is currently marketed for the treatment
of erythema nodosum leprosum, or ENL, and under review by
the FDA for the treatment of multiple myeloma. Over the past
several years, THALOMID® net sales have grown steadily driven
mainly by its off-label use for treating multiple myeloma and
other cancers. The sales growth of THALOMID® has enabled us
to make substantial investments in research and development,
which has advanced our broad portfolio of drug candidates in
our product pipeline, including a pipeline of IMiDs® compounds,
which are a class of compounds proprietary to us and having
certain immunomodulatory and other biologically important
properties. We believe that the sales growth of THALOMID®, 
the growth potential for REVLIMID®, the depth of our product
pipeline, near-term regulatory activities and clinical data 
reported at major medical conferences provide the catalyst
for future growth. 

Factors Affecting Future Results
Future operating results will depend on many factors,

including demand for our products, regulatory approvals of 
our products, the timing and market acceptance of new 
products launched by us or competing companies, the timing 
of research and development milestones, challenges to our
intellectual property and our ability to control costs. See also
the Risk Factors discussion in Part I, Item 1A of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. Some of the more salient factors that
we are focused on are: the ability of REVLIMID® to successfully
penetrate relevant markets; competitive risks; and our ability 
to advance clinical and regulatory programs. 

The ability of REVLIMID® to successfully penetrate relevant
markets: REVLIMID® was approved by the FDA on December 27,
2005 for the treatment of certain myelodysplastic syndromes,
or MDS, associated with a deletion 5q cytogenetic abnormality
and we have begun to execute our product launch strategies,
which includes among other things: registering physicians in
the RevAssistSM program, which is a proprietary risk-management
distribution program tailored specifically to help ensure the 
safe use of REVLIMID®; sponsoring numerous medical education
programs designed to educate physicians on MDS; and, 
partnering with contracted pharmacies to ensure safe and rapid
distribution of REVLIMID®. In addition, we have implemented
an expanded access program to provide patients with relapsed
or refractory multiple myeloma free access to REVLIMID® 
while the FDA reviews our sNDA for that indication. We do not,
however, have long-term data on the use of the product and
cannot predict whether REVLIMID® will gain widespread 

acceptance, which will mostly depend on the acceptance of 
regulators, physicians, patients and opinion leaders. The success
of REVLIMID® will also depend, in part, on prescription drug 
coverage by government health agencies, commercial and
employer health plans, and other third-party payers. As an oral
targeted cancer agent, REVLIMID® qualifies as a Medicare Part D
drug. Each Part D plan will review REVLIMID® for addition to
their formulary. As with all new products introduced into the
market, there may be some lag time before being reviewed 
on each plan’s formulary. We are encouraged that during 
this formulary review process, patients have been given 
access to REVLIMID® and there have been no reported denials
for coverage.

Competitive Risks: The landscape for the treatment of 
multiple myeloma and other cancer and immune-inflammatory
related diseases is highly competitive. While competition could
reduce THALOMID® sales and limit REVLIMID® launch expectations,
we do not believe that competing products will eliminate
REVLIMID® and THALOMID® use entirely. In addition, generic
competition could reduce THALOMID® sales. However, we own
intellectual property which includes, for example, U.S. patents
covering our S.T.E.P.S.® distribution program for the safer delivery
of thalidomide, which all patients receiving thalidomide in the
United States must follow. We also have exclusive rights to several
issued patents covering the use of THALOMID® in oncology and
other therapeutic areas. Even if generic competition were able to
enter the market, we expect REVLIMID®, which is now available
commercially, to at least partially replace THALOMID® sales. 

Ability to advance clinical and regulatory programs:
A major objective of our on-going clinical trials programs 
is to broaden our knowledge about the full potential of 
REVLIMID® and to continue to evaluate the drug in a broad
range of indications including lymphocytic leukemia, 
Non-Hodgkin’s Lymphoma, Amyloidosis and myelofibrosis. 
The significant near-term regulatory catalysts that we are
focused on include: the FDA’s decision regarding our sNDA 
for THALOMID® in multiple myeloma (a Prescription Drug User
Fee Act, or PDUFA, date of May 25, 2006 has been set); the 
FDA’s decision regarding our sNDA for REVLIMID® in relapsed 
or refractory multiple myeloma; and from an international 
perspective, the European Medicines Agency, or EMEA, decision
regarding our Marketing Authorization Application, or MAA, 
for REVLIMID® in MDS with the 5q chromosomal deletion. 

Company Background 
In 1986, we were spun off from Celanese Corporation and

in July 1987 we completed an initial public offering. Initially, our
operations involved research and development of chemical and
biotreatment processes for the chemical and pharmaceutical
industries. Between 1990 and 1998, our revenues were derived
primarily from the development and supply of chirally pure
intermediates to pharmaceutical companies for use in new 
drug development. By 1998, sales of chirally pure intermediates
became a less integral part of our strategic focus and, in
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January 1998 we sold the chiral intermediates business to
Cambrex Corporation. 

In July 1998, we received approval from the FDA to market
THALOMID® for use in ENL, a complication of the treatment
of leprosy, and in September 1998 we commenced sales 
of THALOMID® in the United States. Since then, sales of 
THALOMID® have grown significantly each year. In 2003, 2004
and 2005 we recorded net THALOMID® sales of $223.7 million,
$308.6 million and $387.8 million, respectively. 

In April 2000, we signed a licensing and development
agreement with Novartis Pharma AG in which we granted to
Novartis a license for FOCALIN™, our chirally pure version of
RITALIN®. The agreement provided for significant upfront and
milestone payments to us based on the achievement of various
stages in the regulatory approval process. It also provided for 
us to receive royalties on the entire family of RITALIN® products.
Pursuant to the agreement we retained the rights to 
FOCALIN™ and FOCALIN XR™ in oncology indications.

In August 2000, we acquired Signal Pharmaceuticals, Inc.,
now Celgene Research San Diego, a privately held biopharma-
ceutical company focused on the discovery and development of
drugs that regulate genes associated with disease. In November
2001, we licensed to Pharmion Corporation exclusive rights relating
to the development and commercial use of our intellectual
property covering thalidomide and S.T.E.P.S® in all countries 
outside of North America, Japan, China, Taiwan and Korea 
(see our references below to the December 2004 amendment
with respect to these territories). In December 2002, we acquired
Anthrogenesis Corp., a privately held biotherapeutics company
developing processes for the recovery of stem cells from human
placental tissue following the completion of a successful full-
term pregnancy for use in stem cell transplantation, regenerative
medicine and biomaterials for organ and wound repair.

In March 2003, we entered into a supply and distribution
agreement with GlaxoSmithKline, or GSK, to distribute, promote
and sell ALKERAN‚ or melphalan, a therapy approved by the 
FDA for the palliative treatment of multiple myeloma and 
carcinoma of the ovary. The agreement requires that we 
purchase ALKERAN® from GSK and distribute the products in
the United States under the Celgene label. The agreement has
been extended through March 31, 2009. 

In October 2004, we acquired Penn T Limited, or Penn T, 
a worldwide supplier of THALOMID®. Through manufacturing
agreements entered into with a third party in connection with
this acquisition, we are able to control manufacturing for
THALOMID® worldwide and we also increase our participation
in the potential sales growth of THALOMID® in key international
markets. In December 2004, following our acquisition of Penn T,
we amended the thalidomide supply agreement with Pharmion
and granted them license rights in additional territories. As
amended, the territory licensed to Pharmion is for all countries
other than the United States, Canada, Mexico, Japan and all
provinces of China other than Hong Kong. 

On December 27, 2005, the FDA approved REVLIMID® for
the treatment of patients with transfusion-dependent anemia
due to low- or intermediate-1-risk myelodysplastic syndromes

associated with a deletion 5q cytogenetic abnormality with or
without additional cytogenetic abnormalities. 

Until 2003, we had sustained losses in each year since 
our incorporation in 1986. For the years ended December 31,
2003, 2004 and 2005 we posted net income of $25.7 million,
$52.8 million and $63.7 million, respectively, and at December
31, 2005 we had an accumulated deficit of $170.8 million. 
We expect to make substantial additional expenditures to 
further develop and commercialize our products. We expect
that our rate of spending will accelerate as a result of increases
in clinical trial costs, expenses associated with regulatory
approval and expenses related to commercialization of products
currently in development. However, we anticipate these 
expenditures to be more than offset by increased product
sales, royalties, revenues from various research collaborations
and license agreements with other pharmaceutical and 
biopharmaceutical companies, and investment income.

Stock Split
On December 27, 2005, we announced that the Board of

Directors approved a two-for-one stock split payable in the 
form of a 100 percent stock dividend. Stockholders received 
one additional share for every share they owned as of the close
of business on February 17, 2006. The additional shares were
distributed on February 24, 2006. As a result, our authorized
shares increased from 280,000,000 to 580,000,000 and shares
outstanding increased from 172,057,726 shares to 344,115,452
shares as of the close of business on February 24, 2006. All
share and per share amounts in the consolidated financial
statements have been restated to reflect the two-for-one stock
split effective February 17, 2006. 

Results of Operations – 
Fiscal Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003

Total Revenue: Total revenue and related percentages 
for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, 
were as follows:

% Change

2004 2003
to to

(In thousands $) 2005 2004 2003 2005 2004

Net product sales:

THALOMID® $387,816 $308,577 $223,686 25.7% 38.0%

FOCALIN™ 4,210 4,177 2,383 0.8% 75.3%

ALKERAN® 49,748 16,956 17,827 193.4% (4.9%)

REVLIMID® 2,862 — — N/A N/A

Other 989 861 557 14.9% 54.6%

Total net

product sales $445,625 $330,571 $244,453 34.8% 35.2%

Collaborative 

agreements

and other 

revenue 41,334 20,012 15,174 106.5% 31.9%

Royalty revenue 49,982 26,919 11,848 85.7% 127.2%

Total revenue $536,941 $377,502 $271,475 42.2% 39.1%
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Net Product Sales:
2005 compared to 2004: THALOMID® net sales were higher

in 2005, as compared to 2004, primarily due to price increases
implemented as we move towards a cost of therapy pricing
structure as opposed to a price per milligram. Sales volumes
decreased due to lower average daily doses; however, the total
number of prescriptions for 2005 remained essentially flat
when compared to the prior year period. Partially offsetting 
the increase in THALOMID® sales were higher gross to net sales
accruals for sales returns, Medicaid rebates and distributor
chargebacks, which are recorded based on historical data.
Included in 2005 were sales of $8.7 million from our U.K. 
subsidiary, CUK II, to Pharmion Corporation. Focalin™ net
sales, which are dependent on the timing of orders from
Novartis for their commercial distribution, were essentially 
flat when compared to the prior year period. ALKERAN‚ net
sales were higher in 2005, as compared to 2004, due to price
increases implemented during 2005 and an increase in sales
volumes. ALKERAN‚ use in combination therapies for the 
treatment of hematological diseases continues to grow driven
by clinical data reported at major medical conferences around
the world. Also contributing to the increase in ALKERAN‚ sales
volumes was the resolution of supply disruptions experienced
in 2004, which resolution led to more consistent supplies of
ALKERAN‚ for injection and consequently more consistent
end-market buying patterns. REVLIMID‚ was approved by the
FDA on December 27, 2005 and the first commercial sales 
were recorded relating to initial stocking at certain contracted 
pharmacies that were registered under the RevAssist™ program.
Other net product sales consist of sales of dehydrated human
amniotic membrane for use in ophthalmic applications, which
are generated through our Celgene Cellular Therapeutics division.

2004 compared to 2003: THALOMID® net sales were higher
in 2004, as compared to 2003, primarily due to price increases
implemented in the second half of 2003 and in the first nine
months of 2004. The total number of prescriptions, which
increased 9.4% from the prior year period, was offset by lower
average daily doses. FOCALIN™ net sales were higher in 
2004, as compared to 2003, due to the timing of shipments 
to Novartis for their commercial distribution. ALKERAN® net
sales were lower in 2004, as compared to 2003, due to supply
disruptions earlier in the year, which lead to inconsistent
supplies of ALKERAN® IV and consequently inconsistent
end-market buying patterns. Other net product sales consist
of sales of dehydrated human amniotic membrane for use 
in ophthalmic applications, which are generated through 
our Celgene Cellular Therapeutics division. 

Gross to Net Sales Accruals: We record gross to net sales
accruals for sales returns, sales discounts, Medicaid rebates 
and distributor charge-backs and services. Allowance for sales
returns are based on the actual returns history for consumed
lots and the trend experience for lots where product is still
being returned. Sales discounts accruals are based on payment
terms extended to customers. Medicaid rebate accruals are
based on historical payment data and estimates of future
Medicaid beneficiary utilization. Distributor charge-back 

accruals are based on the differentials between product
acquisition prices paid by wholesalers and lower government
contract pricing paid by eligible customers covered under 
federally qualified programs. Distributor services accruals are
based on actual fees paid to wholesale distributors for services
provided. Medicaid rebates and distributor charge-backs
increased due to higher sales volumes and price increases,
which increase the respective rebate and chargeback amounts.
The gross to net accrued balances were $34.2 million and 
$19.7 million at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
Gross to net sales accruals for the years ended December 31,
2005, 2004 and 2003 were as follows:

% Change
2004 2003

to to
(In thousands $) 2005 2004 2003 2005 2004

Gross product

sales $548,853 $385,055 $283,208 42.5% 36.0%

Less: Gross to net

sales accruals

Returns and 

allowances 21,256 16,279 12,659 30.6% 28.6%

Discounts 10,948 7,448 5,503 47.0% 35.3%

Medicaid rebates 35,098 15,780 12,975 122.4% 21.6%

Distributor 

charge-backs 33,658 14,977 7,618 124.7% 96.6%

Distributor services 2,268 — — N/A N/A

Total net

product sales $445,625 $330,571 $244,453 34.8% 35.2%

Collaborative agreements and other revenue: Revenues
from collaborative agreements and other sources in 2005
included a $20.0 million milestone payment from Novartis 
for the NDA approval of Focalin XR™; $13.9 million related 
to our sponsored research, license and other agreements with
Pharmion Corporation; $5.1 million from umbilical cord blood
enrollment, collection and storage fees generated through 
our LifeBank USASM business; $0.9 million for licensing to
EntreMed, Inc. rights to develop and commercialize our tubulin
inhibitor compounds; $0.5 million related to the agreements
providing manufacturers of isotretinoin, a non-exclusive license
to our S.T.E.P.S.® patent portfolio encompassing restrictive 
drug distribution systems; and, $0.9 million from other 
miscellaneous research and development agreements.
Revenues from collaborative agreements and other sources 
in 2004 included a $7.5 million milestone payment from
Novartis related to their FOCALIN® XR NDA submission; 
$7.5 million related to our sponsored research, license and 
other agreements with Pharmion Corporation; $3.7 million 
of umbilical cord blood enrollment, collection and storage fees
generated through our Celgene Cellular Therapeutics division;
$0.5 million related to the agreements providing manufacturers
of isotretinoin, a non-exclusive license to our S.T.E.P.S.® patent
portfolio encompassing restrictive drug distribution systems;
and $0.8 million from other miscellaneous research and 
development and licensing agreements. Revenues from 
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collaborative agreements and other sources in 2003 included
$6.0 million related to the agreement to terminate the
Gelclair™ co-promotion agreement with OSI Pharmaceuticals
Inc.; $4.3 million of thalidomide research and development
funding and S.T.E.P.S. licensing fees received in connection 
with the Pharmion collaboration agreements; $1.3 million 
of reimbursements from Novartis for shipments of bulk raw
material used in the formulation of FOCALIN® XR and utilized in
clinical studies conducted by Novartis; $2.9 million of umbilical
cord blood enrollment, collection and storage fees generated
through our Stem Cell Therapies segment; and $0.7 million
from other miscellaneous research and development and 
licensing agreements.

Royalty revenue: Royalty revenue in 2005 included 
$48.5 million of royalties received from Novartis on sales of
their entire family of Ritalin‚ drugs and Focalin XR™, which
gained FDA approval on May 27, 2005; $0.6 million of royalties
received from Pharmion on their commercial sales of THALOMID®,
and $0.8 million of miscellaneous other royalties. Royalty 
revenue in 2004 and 2003 was $26.9 million and $11.8 million,
respectively, and consisted solely of royalties received from
Novartis on sales of their entire family of RITALIN® drugs. The
year-over-year increases in Ritalin‚ royalty revenue was due to
increases in the royalty rate on both Ritalin‚ and Ritalin‚ LA as
well as an increase in Ritalin‚ LA sales by Novartis. 

Cost of Goods Sold: Cost of goods sold and related 
percentages for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 
and 2003 were as follows:

(In thousands $) 2005 2004 2003

Cost of goods sold $80,727 $59,726 $52,950

Increase from prior year $21,001 $06,776 $32,083

Percentage increase 

from prior year 35.2% 12.8% 153.7%

Percentage of net

product sales 18.1% 18.1% 21.7%

2005 compared to 2004: Cost of goods sold were higher in
2005, as compared to 2004, primarily due to higher royalties on
THALOMID‚ net sales and higher ALKERAN‚ costs as a result of
higher sales volumes. As a percentage of net product sales, cost
of goods sold in 2005 were in line with 2004.

2004 compared to 2003: Cost of goods sold increased in
2004 from 2003, primarily as a result of higher royalties paid 
on THALOMID®, partially offset by lower ALKERAN® costs. As 
a percentage of net product sales, however, cost of goods sold
decreased primarily due to lower ALKERAN® costs. Profit margins
on THALOMID® remained flat, as the increase in cost of goods
sold (resulting from higher royalties paid) were offset by higher
net sales (which were due to price increases implemented in
the second half of 2003 and in the first nine months of 2004).

Research and Development: Research and development
expenses consist primarily of salaries and benefits, contractor
fees (paid principally to contract research organizations to assist
in our clinical development programs), costs of drug supplies for

our clinical and preclinical programs, costs of other consumable
research supplies, regulatory and quality expenditures and 
allocated facilities charges such as building rent and utilities.

Research and development expenses and related percentages
for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 were as
follows:

(In thousands $) 2005 2004 2003

Research and 

development expenses $190,834 $160,852 $122,700

Increase from prior year $029,982 $038,152 $037,776

Percentage increase 

from prior year 18.6% 31.1% 44.5%

Percentage of total 

revenue 35.5% 42.6% 45.2%

2005 compared to 2004: Research and development
expenses were higher in 2005, as compared to 2004, primarily
due to higher costs to support further clinical development
and regulatory advancement of REVLIMID‚ Phase II and Phase III
programs in myelodysplastic syndromes and multiple myeloma,
including the ongoing pivotal Phase III MDS deletion 5q trial 
to support our MAA seeking approval to market REVLIMID‚ 
in Europe. Research and development expenses are targeted 
to increase 20 to 25 percent in 2006 in support of our ongoing
global regulatory filings, late stage clinical trials and clinical
progress in multiple proprietary development programs. 

2004 compared to 2003: Research and development
expenses increased by $38.2 million in 2004 from 2003, 
primarily due to increased spending in various late-stage 
regulatory programs such as Phase II regulatory programs 
for REVLIMID® in myelodysplastic syndromes and multiple
myeloma, including ongoing REVLIMID® Phase III SPA trials 
in multiple myeloma. 

Research and development expenses in 2005 consisted 
of $73.9 million spent on human pharmaceutical clinical 
programs; $69.1 million spent on other pharmaceutical 
programs, including toxicology, analytical research and 
development, drug discovery, quality assurance and regulatory
affairs; $36.9 million spent on biopharmaceutical discovery and
development programs; and $10.9 million spent on placental
stem cell and biomaterials programs. These expenditures 
support multiple core programs, including REVLIMID®, 
THALOMID®, CC-10004, CC-4047, CC-11006, TNFa inhibitors,
other investigational compounds, such as kinase inhibitors, 
benzopyranones and ligase inhibitors and placental and cord
blood derived stem cell programs. Research and development
expenses in 2004 consisted of $67.0 million spent on human
pharmaceutical clinical programs; $44.7 million spent on 
other human pharmaceutical programs, including toxicology,
analytical research and development, drug discovery, quality
assurance and regulatory affairs; $40.6 million spent on 
biopharmaceutical discovery and development programs; 
and $8.6 million spent on placental stem cell and biomaterials
programs. In 2003, $47.6 million was spent on human 
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pharmaceutical clinical programs; $34.4 million was spent
on other human pharmaceutical programs, including toxicology,
analytical research and development, drug discovery, quality
assurance and regulatory affairs; $33.7 million was spent on
biopharmaceutical discovery and development programs; 
and $7.0 million was spent on placental stem cell and 
biomaterials programs. 

As total revenue increases, research and development
expense may continue to decrease as a percentage of total 
revenue, however the actual dollar amount may continue to
increase as earlier stage compounds are moved through the
preclinical and clinical stages. Due to the significant risk 
factors and uncertainties inherent in preclinical tests and 
clinical trials associated with each of our research and 
development projects, the cost to complete such projects 
can vary. The data obtained from these tests and trials may 
be susceptible to varying interpretation that could delay, 
limit or prevent a project’s advancement through the various
stages of clinical development, which would significantly
impact the costs incurred to bring a project to completion.

For information about the commercial and development
status and target diseases of our drug compounds, refer to 
the product overview table contained in Part I, Item I of this
annual report. 

In general, the estimated times to completion within the
various stages of clinical development are as follows:

Clinical Phase Estimated Completion Time

Phase I 1-2 years

Phase II 2-3 years

Phase III 2-3 years

Due to the significant risks and uncertainties inherent
in preclinical testing and clinical trials associated with each 
of our research and development projects, the cost to complete
such projects is not reasonably estimable. The data obtained
from these tests and trials may be susceptible to varying 
interpretation that could delay, limit or prevent a project’s
advancement through the various stages of clinical development,
which would significantly impact the costs incurred in 
completing a project. 

Selling, General and Administrative: Selling expenses 
consist primarily of salaries and benefits for sales and marketing
and customer service personnel and other commercial expenses
to support our sales force. General and administrative expenses
consist primarily of salaries and benefits, outside services 
for legal, audit, tax and investor activities and allocations of
facilities costs, principally for rent, utilities and property taxes.

Selling, general and administrative expenses and related
percentages for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and
2003 were as follows:

(In thousands $) 2005 2004 2003

Selling, general and 

administrative 

expenses $181,796 $114,196 $98,474

Increase from prior year $067,600 $015,722 $32,302

Percentage increase 

from prior year 59.2% 16.0% 48.8%

Percentage of 

total revenue 33.9% 30.3% 36.3%

2005 compared to 2004: Selling, general and administrative
expenses were higher in 2005, as compared to 2004, primarily
due to the inclusion in 2005 of approximately $40.0 million of
REVLIMID® pre-launch commercial expenses, such as global
market research, marketing and educational programs and 
sales and marketing training and an increase of approximately
$22.7 million in general administrative expenses resulting from
higher professional and other miscellaneous outside service
fees, higher personnel-related expenses, higher facility related
expenses and higher insurance costs, offset by lower THALOMID®
and ALKERAN® related marketing expenses. Included in selling,
general and administrative expenses in 2005 was $2.5 million
of expense related to accelerated depreciation of leasehold
improvements at four New Jersey locations being consolidated
into our new corporate headquarters. Selling, general and
administrative expenses are targeted to increase 10 to 15 
percent in 2006; in addition, international selling, general 
and administrative expenses are expected to be in a range of
$30 to $35 million for ongoing expansion of commercial and
manufacturing capabilities in Europe. Actual expenses will be
dependent on the progress of discussions with the international
regulatory authorities.

2004 compared to 2003: Selling, general and administrative
expenses increased by $15.7 million in 2004 from 2003, as a
result of an increase of approximately $12.0 million in general
administrative and medical affairs expenses primarily due to
higher headcount-related expenses and an increase of approxi-
mately $3.6 million in sales force expenses primarily due to the
creation of a sales operations group. The sales operations group,
among other things, manages pricing and reimbursement, 
corporate accounts, customer service and government affairs, 
as well as sales fleet expenses.

Interest and other income, net: Interest and other income,
net in 2005 included $27.7 million of interest and realized 
gains on our cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities
portfolio, offset by unrealized losses of $6.9 million for changes
in the estimated value of our investment in EntreMed, Inc. 
warrants prior to our March 31, 2005 exercise, $3.1 million for
other-than-temporary impairment write-downs recognized 
on two securities held in our available-for-sales marketable
securities portfolio and $0.7 million of foreign exchange and
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other miscellaneous net losses. Interest and other income, net
in 2004 included $28.3 million of interest and realized gains on
our cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities portfolio
and $3.6 million of foreign exchange and other miscellaneous
net gains, offset by an unrealized losses of $1.9 million for
changes in the estimated value of our investment in EntreMed,
Inc. warrants. Interest and other income, net in 2003 included
$21.8 million of interest and realized gains on our cash, cash
equivalents and marketable securities portfolio and $16.6 
million of unrealized gains for changes in the estimated value
of our investment in EntreMed, Inc. warrants.

Equity in losses of affiliated companies: On March 31, 2005,
we exercised warrants to purchase 7,000,000 shares of
EntreMed, Inc. common stock. Since we also hold 3,350,000
shares of EntreMed voting preferred shares that are convertible
into 16,750,000 shares of common stock, we determined that
we have significant influence over EntreMed and are applying the
equity method of accounting to our common stock investment
effective March 31, 2005. Under the equity method of accounting,
we recorded equity losses of $6.9 million in 2005, which
includes a charge of $4.4 million to write down the value of the
investment ascribed to in-process research and development,
$0.2 million related to amortization of acquired intangible
assets, $1.6 million to record our share of EntreMed losses and 
a charge of $0.7 million to eliminate our share of THALOMID‚
royalties payable to EntreMed, Inc. During 2003, we recorded
$4.4 million for our share of the EntreMed losses until the
investment was written down to zero in the third quarter 
of 2003. 

On February 2, 2006 we, along with a group of other
investors, entered into an agreement to invest $30.0 million 
in EntreMed in return for newly issued EntreMed common 
stock and warrants to purchase additional shares of EntreMed
common stock at a conversion price of $2.3125 per warrant. 
Our portion of the investment was $2.0 million for which we
received 864,864 shares of EntreMed common stock and
432,432 warrants. The warrants will be accounted for at fair
value with changes in fair value recorded through earnings.

Interest expense: Interest expense was $9.5 million, $9.6 
million and $5.7 million in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively, 
and primarily reflects interest expense and amortization of debt
issuance costs on the $400 million convertible notes issued on 
June 3, 2003. Interest expense in 2003 only includes seven months
of interest expense and amortization of debt issuance costs. 

Income tax benefit (provision): The income tax provision 
for 2005 was $20.6 million and reflects tax expense impacted
by certain expenses incurred outside the United States for
which no tax benefit can be recorded, offset by the benefit
from elimination of valuation allowances totaling $42.6 million
as of March 31, 2005, which was based on the fact that we
determined it was more likely than not that certain benefits of
our deferred tax assets would be realized. This determination
was based upon the external Independent Data Monitoring
Committee’s, or IDMC, analyses of two Phase III Special Protocol
Assessment multiple myeloma trials and the conclusion that
these trials exceeded the pre-specified stopping rule. The IDMC

found a statistically significant improvement in time to disease
progression — the primary endpoint of these Phase III trials —
in patients receiving REVLIMID® plus dexamethasone compared
to patients receiving dexamethasone alone. This, in concert
with our nine consecutive quarters of profitability, led to the
conclusion that is was more likely than not that we will 
generate sufficient taxable income to realize the benefits of 
our deferred tax assets. The elimination of valuation allowances
relating to certain historical acquisitions were first offset
against goodwill and intangibles with the balance applied 
to reduce income tax expense. The elimination of valuation
allowances relating to tax deductions that arose in connection
with stock option exercises were offset against components 
of equity. The income tax provision for 2004 was $10.4 million,
which reflects an effective underlying tax rate of 16.5%. Our 
tax rate in 2004 rose from 2003 primarily due to federal tax
expense and decreases in the valuation allowance available to
offset income tax expense. In 2003, our income tax provision
was $0.7 million and included income tax expense of $1.1 
million for federal and state purposes, offset by a tax benefit
of $0.4 million from the sale of certain state net operating 
loss carryforwards.

Gain on sale of chiral assets: In January 1998, we completed
the sale of our chiral intermediate business to Cambrex
Corporation. Pursuant to the minimum royalty provisions of the
agreement, we received $0.8 million in 2003.

Net income: Net income and per common share amounts
for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 were 
as follows:

(In thousands, 

except per share amounts) 2005 2004 2003

Net income $63,656 $52,756 $24,943

Per common share amounts:

Basic $0.19 $0.16 $0.08

Diluted $0.18 $0.15 $0.08

Weighted average number 

of shares of common stock 

utilized to calculate per 

common share amounts:

Basic 335,512 327,738 323,548

Diluted 390,585 345,710 341,592

Amounts have been adjusted for the two-for-one stock splits effected in

February 2006 and October 2004.

2005 compared to 2004: Net income and per common
share amounts were higher in 2005, as compared to 2004, 
primarily due to an increase in total revenues of $159.4 million
(driven primarily by a $79.2 million increase in THALOMID‚ 
net sales, a $32.8 million increase in ALKERAN‚ net sales, a 
$21.8 million increase in royalty revenues received from
Novartis related to the Ritalin‚ line of drugs and Focalin XR™
and a $12.5 million increase in milestone payments from
Novartis related to Focalin XR™) offset by higher operating
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expenses of $118.6 million (driven by REVLIMID‚ clinical and
regulatory research and development costs and REVLIMID‚ 
pre-launch selling, general and administrative costs) and 
unrealized losses recorded in 2005 of $6.9 million for changes 
in the estimated value of our investment in EntreMed, Inc. 
warrants prior to our March 31, 2005 exercise, $3.1 million 
for other-than-temporary impairment write-downs recognized
on two securities held in our available-for-sales marketable
securities portfolio and our share of equity losses of EntreMed,
Inc. of $6.9 million. 

2004 compared to 2003: Income from continuing operations
increased in 2004 from 2003 due to an increase in total revenue
of $106.0 million (attributable primarily to an increase in
THALOMID® net sales) partly offset by higher operating expenses
of $60.7 million and a decrease in interest and other income,
net of $7.9 million (attributable to a $1.9 million decrease in 
fair value of EntreMed warrants versus a prior year increase 
of $16.6 million partly offset by an increase in interest income
and foreign exchange gains and the inclusion in 2003 of equity
losses of associated companies of $4.4 million). 

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Net cash provided by operating activities was $41.9 million 

in 2005, as compared to $155.9 million in 2004. The decrease
was primarily due to higher working capital levels and higher
income taxes paid, partially offset by higher net income in
2005. Net cash provided by operating activities in 2004
increased $137.2 million from 2003. The increase in 2004 
compared to 2003 was primarily due to higher earnings, the
receipt of $80.0 million in connection with the December 2004
THALOMID® development and commercialization collaboration
with Pharmion and a decrease in net working capital levels. 

Net cash used in investing activities was $103.1 million in
2005 and included cash outflows of $35.9 million for capital
expenditures, $7.2 million for acquisition costs and working
capital adjustments related to the October 2004 acquisition 
of Penn T, $49.5 million for net purchases of available-for-sale
marketable securities and $10.5 million for the exercise of 
warrants to purchase 7,000,000 shares of EntreMed common
stock. Net cash used in investing activities was $92.6 million 
in 2004 and included cash outflows of $109.9 million for the
October 2004 acquisition of Penn T, $7.0 million for an investment
and $36.0 million for capital expenditures. Partially offsetting
these outflows were cash inflows of $60.3 million from net
sales of available-for-sale marketable securities. Net cash 
used in investing activities was $443.6 million in 2003 and
included cash outflows of $421.2 million for net purchases 
of available-for-sale marketable securities, $12.0 million for 
the purchase of a Pharmion Corporation senior convertible 
note and $11.2 million for capital expenditures. 

Net cash provided by financing activities was $52.6 million,
$16.0 million and $399.7 million in 2005, 2004 and 2003,
respectively, and included cash inflows from the exercise of
common stock options and warrants of $52.6 million, $16.0 
million and $12.0 million in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
Included in 2003 were cash inflows of $387.8 million from 

net proceeds of the issuance of our convertible notes on 
June 3, 2003. 

Currency rate changes negatively impacted our cash 
and cash equivalents balances by $3.3 million and $4.4 million
in 2005 and 2004, respectively. At December 31, 2005, cash,
cash equivalents and marketable securities were $724.3 million,
a decrease of $24.3 million from December 31, 2004 levels. 
The decrease was primarily due to a decrease in cash and 
cash equivalents and a reduction in unrealized gains on our
available-for-sale marketable securities portfolio. 

We expect increased research and product development
costs, clinical trial costs, expenses associated with the regulatory
approval process and commercialization of products and capital
investments. In addition, we expect increased commercial
expenses, such as marketing and market research. However,
existing cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities 
available for sale, combined with expected net product sales
and revenues from various research, collaboration and royalties
agreements are expected to provide sufficient capital resources
to fund our operations for the foreseeable future. 

Contractual Obligations

The following table sets forth our contractual obligations

as of December 31, 2005:

Payment Due By Period

Less More
than 1 1-3 3-5 than 5 

(In millions $) Year Years Years Years Total

Convertible note 

obligations $0,— $400.0 $,— $,— $ 400.0

Operating leases 3.4 5.5 5.0 3.9 17.8

ALKERAN® supply 

agreements 34.7 67.3 — — 102.0

Other contract

commitments 4.5 7.3 2.0 — 13.8

$42.6 $480.1 $7.0 $3.9 $533.6

Convertible Debt: In June 2003, we issued an aggregate
principal amount of $400.0 million of unsecured convertible
notes. The convertible notes have a five-year term and a coupon
rate of 1.75% payable semi-annually. The convertible notes can
be converted at any time into 33,022,360 shares of common
stock at a stock-split adjusted conversion price of $12.1125 per
share. At December 31, 2005, the fair value of the convertible
notes exceeded the carrying value of $400.0 million by $660.0
million (for more information see Note 10 of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements).

Operating (facilities) leases: We occupy the following 
facilities under lease arrangements that have remaining lease
terms greater than one year. 

• 73,500-square feet of laboratory and office space in Warren,
New Jersey. The two leases for this facility have terms ending in
May 2007 and July 2010, respectively, and each have two five-year
renewal options. Annual rent for these facilities is $0.8 million. 
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• 78,202-square feet of laboratory and office space in San
Diego, California. The lease for this facility has a term ending 
in August 2012 with one five-year renewal option. Annual rent
for this facility is $2.0 million and is subject to specified annual
rental increases. 

• 20,000-square feet of office and laboratory space in
Cedar Knolls, New Jersey. The leases for this facility have terms
ending between September 2007 and April 2009 with renewal
options ranging from either one or two additional five-year
terms. Annual rent for this facility is $0.3 million and is subject
to specified annual rental increases.

• 11,000 square feet of laboratory space in Baton Rouge,
Louisiana. The lease for this facility has a term ending in May
2008 with one three-year renewal option. Annual rent for this
facility is $0.1 million. 

Under these lease arrangements, we also are required to
reimburse the lessors for real estate taxes, insurance, utilities,
maintenance and other operating costs. All leases are with
unaffiliated parties.

For a schedule of payments related to operating leases,
refer to Note 18 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

ALKERAN® Purchase Commitments: In March 2003, we
entered into a supply and distribution agreement with
GlaxoSmithKline, or GSK, to distribute, promote and sell 
ALKERAN® (melphalan), a therapy approved by the FDA for 
the palliative treatment of multiple myeloma and carcinoma 
of the ovary. Under the terms of the agreement, we purchase 
ALKERAN® tablets and ALKERAN® for infusion from GSK and 
distributes the products in the United States under the Celgene
label. The agreement requires us to purchase certain minimum
quantities each year under a take-or-pay arrangement. The
agreement has been extended through March 31, 2009. 
On December 31, 2005, the remaining minimum purchase 
requirements under the agreement totaled $102.0 million. 

Other Contract Commitments: We signed an exclusive
license agreement with CMCC, which terminated any existing
thalidomide analog agreements between CMCC and EntreMed
and directly granted to Celgene an exclusive worldwide 
license for the analog patents. Under the agreement, we are
required to pay CMCC $2.0 million between 2005 and 2006. 
The outstanding balance related to this agreement was 
$1.0 million at December 31, 2005. Additional payments are
possible under the agreement depending on the successful
development and commercialization of thalidomide analogs. 

In connection with the acquisition of Penn T on October 21,
2004, we entered into a Technical Services Agreement with
Penn Pharmaceutical Services Limited, or PPSL, and Penn
Pharmaceutical Holding Limited pursuant to which PPSL 
provides the services and facilities necessary for the 
manufacture of THALOMID® and other thalidomide 
formulations. The total cost to be incurred over the five-year
minimum agreement period is approximately $11.0 million. 
At December 31, 2005, the remaining cost to be incurred 
was approximately $7.8 million.

In October 2003, we signed an agreement with Institute 
of Drug Technology Australia Limited, or IDT, for the 
manufacture of finished dosage form of THALOMID® capsules.
The agreement requires minimum payments for THALOMID®
capsules of $4.7 million for the three-year term commencing
with the FDA’s approval of IDT as an alternate supplier. The FDA
granted IDT approval to manufacture THALOMID® capsules in
April 2005. The agreement provides us with additional capacity
and reduces our dependency on one manufacturer for the pro-
duction of THALOMID®. At December 31, 2005, the remaining
minimum obligation under this agreement was $4.0 million. 

New Accounting Principles
In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, 

or FASB, issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 123R, “Share-Based Payment,” or SFAS 123R. SFAS 123R
requires compensation cost relating to share-based payment
transactions be recognized in financial statements based on 
the fair value of the equity or liability instruments issued. 
SFAS 123R covers a wide range of share-based compensation
arrangements including stock options, restricted stock plans,
performance-based awards, stock appreciation rights, and
employee stock purchase plans. SFAS 123R replaces SFAS 
No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” and
supersedes APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued 
to Employees.” SFAS No. 123, as originally issued in 1995, 
established as preferable a fair-value-based method of accounting 
for share-based payment transactions with employees.

However, SFAS No. 123 permitted entities to continue to
apply the guidance in APB Opinion No. 25, as long as the 
footnotes to financial statements disclosed what net income
would have been had the preferable fair-value-based method
been used. We will be required to adopt the provisions of 
SFAS No. 123R in the first quarter of fiscal year 2006.
Management is currently evaluating the requirements 
of SFAS No. 123R. The adoption of SFAS No. 123R is expected to
have a material effect on our consolidated financial statements.
See Note 1, Nature of Business and Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies, to the Consolidated Financial Statements
included elsewhere in this Annual Report for the pro forma
impact on net income and net income per share from calculating
stock-based compensation cost under the fair value method of
SFAS No. 123. However, the calculation of compensation cost
for share-based payment transactions after the effective date 
of SFAS No. 123R may be different from the calculation of 
compensation cost under SFAS No. 123.

In December 2005, in recognition of the significance of the
REVLIMID® regulatory approval, the Board of Directors approved
a resolution to grant the 2006 annual stock option awards in
2005 pursuant to the 1998 Stock Incentive Plan, or the 1998
Plan, and the 1995 Non-Employee Directors’ Incentive Plan. All
stock options awarded pursuant to the 1998 Plan were granted
fully vested, with half issued at an exercise price, or strike price,
of $34.05 per option and the other half issued at a strike price
of $35.67 per option, which was at a premium to the closing
price of $32.43 per share, adjusted for the February 17, 2006
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two-for-one stock split, of our common stock on the Nasdaq
National Market on the grant date of December 29, 2005. The
Board’s decision to grant these options was in recognition of 
the REVLIMID® regulatory approval and in response to a review
of our long-term incentive compensation programs in light of
changes in market practices and recently issued changes in
accounting rules resulting from the issuance of FASB No. 123R,
which we are required to adopt effective the first quarter of
2006. Management believes that granting these options prior
to the adoption of FASB No. 123R will result in our not being
required to recognize cumulative compensation expense of
approximately $70.8 million for the four-year period ending
December 31, 2009.

In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151,
“Inventory Costs –An Amendment of ARB No. 43. This
Statement amends the guidance in ARB No. 43, Chapter 4,
“Inventory Pricing,” to clarify the accounting for abnormal
amounts of idle facility expense, freight, handling costs, and
wasted material (spoilage). The new rule requires that items
such as idle facility expense, excessive spoilage, double freight,
and rehandling costs be recognized as current-period charges
regardless of whether they meet the criterion of “so abnormal”
as stated in ARB No. 43. Additionally, SFAS 151 requires that the
allocation of fixed production overheads to the costs of conversion
be based on the normal capacity of the production facilities.
SFAS 151 is effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15,
2005. The Company is currently evaluating the potential 
impact of this pronouncement on its financial position and
results of operations.

Emerging Issues Task Force, or EITF, Issue No. 03-01, 
“The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment and Its
Application to Certain Investments,” or EITF 03-01, was issued 
in February 2004. The provisions of EITF 03-01 for measuring
and recognizing an other-than-temporary impairment proved
controversial and as a result, FASB Staff Position (“FSP”) FSP 
115-1 and FSP 124-1 “The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary
Impairment and Its Application to Certain Investments” was
issued in November 2005, clarifying the requirements of EITF
03-01 concerning the evaluation of whether an impairment
is other-than-temporary. FSP FAS 115-1 and FAS 124-1 refers 
to SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) Topic 5M, “Other Than
Temporary Impairment of Certain Investments In Debt And
Equity Securities,” and EITF Issue No. 99-20, “Recognition of
Interest Income and Impairment on Purchased and Retained
Beneficial Interest in Securitized Financial Assets,” to evaluate
whether an impairment is other than temporary. We are in
compliance with these requirements and continue to monitor
these developments to assess the possible impact on our 
financial position and results of operations.

Critical Accounting Policies
A critical accounting policy is one which is both important

to the portrayal of our financial condition and results of 
operation and requires management’s most difficult, subjective
or complex judgments, often as a result of the need to make
estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently 

uncertain. While our significant accounting policies are more
fully described in Note 1 of the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements included in this annual report, we 
believe the following accounting policies to be critical:

Revenue Recognition on Collaboration Agreements: We have
formed collaborative research and development agreements
and alliances with several pharmaceutical companies. These
agreements are in the form of research and development and
license agreements. The agreements are for both early- and
late-stage compounds and are focused on specific disease areas.
For the early-stage compounds, the agreements are relatively
short-term agreements that are renewable depending on the
success of the compounds as they move through preclinical
development. The agreements call for nonrefundable upfront
payments, milestone payments on achieving significant mile-
stone events, and in some cases ongoing research funding. 
The agreements also contemplate royalty payments on sales 
if and when the compound receives FDA marketing approval. 

Our revenue recognition policies for all nonrefundable
upfront license fees and milestone arrangements are in 
accordance with the guidance provided in the Securities and
Exchange Commission’s Staff Accounting Bulletin, or SAB, 
No. 101, “Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements,” as
amended by SAB No. 104, “Revenue Recognition,” or SAB 104. 
In addition, we follow the provisions of Emerging Issues Task
Force Issue, or EITF, 00-21, “Revenue Arrangements with
Multiple Deliverables,” or EITF 00-21, for multiple element
revenue arrangements entered into or materially amended 
after June 30, 2003. EITF 00-21 provides guidance on how 
to determine when an arrangement that involves multiple 
revenue-generating activities or deliverables should be divided
into separate units of accounting for revenue recognition 
purposes, and if this division is required, how the arrangement
consideration should be allocated among the separate units 
of accounting. If the deliverables in a revenue arrangement
constitute separate units of accounting according to the EITF’s
separation criteria, the revenue-recognition policy must be
determined for each identified unit. If the arrangement is a 
single unit of accounting, the revenue-recognition policy must
be determined for the entire arrangement.

In accordance with SAB 104, upfront payments are 
recorded as deferred revenue and recognized over the estimated
service period of the last item of performance to be delivered. 
If the estimated service period is subsequently modified, the
period over which the upfront fee is recognized is modified
accordingly on a prospective basis. Revenues from the 
achievement of research and development milestones, 
which represent the achievement of a significant step in the
research and development process are recognized when and 
if the milestones are achieved.

Gross to Net Sales Accruals For Sales Returns, Medicaid
Rebates and Chargebacks: We record an allowance for sales
returns based on the actual returns history for consumed lots
and the trend experience for lots where product is still being
returned. We record sales discounts accruals based on payment
terms extended to customers. We record Medicaid rebate 
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accruals based on historical payment data and estimates 
of Medicaid beneficiary utilization. We record distributor
charge-back accruals based on the differentials between 
product acquisition prices paid by wholesalers and lower 
government contract pricing paid by eligible customers covered
under federally qualified programs. We record distributor 
services accruals based on actual fees paid to wholesale 
distributors for services provided. 

Income Taxes: We utilize the asset and liability method of
accounting for income taxes. Under this method, deferred tax
assets and liabilities are determined based on the difference
between the financial statement carrying amounts and tax
bases of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect
for years in which the temporary differences are expected to
reverse. We provide a valuation allowance when it is more likely
than not that deferred tax assets will not be realized.

Other-Than-Temporary Impairments of Available-For-Sale
Marketable Securities: A decline in the market value of any 
available-for-sale marketable security below its cost that is
deemed to be other-than-temporary results in a reduction 
in carrying amount to fair value. The impairment is charged 
to earnings and a new cost basis for the security established.
Factors evaluated to determine if an investment is other-
than-temporarily impaired include significant deterioration 
in the earnings performance, credit rating, asset quality, or 
business prospects of the issuer; adverse changes in the general
market condition in which the issuer operates; the intent and
ability to retain the investment for a sufficient period of time 
to allow for recovery in the market value of the investment;
and, issues that raise concerns about the issuer’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. At the end of 2005, we determined
that two securities with an amortized cost basis of $7.0 million
had sustained an other-than-temporary impairment and 
recognized a $3.1 million impairment loss, which was recorded
in interest and other income, net.

Accounting for Long-Term Incentive Plans: The recorded 
liability for long-term incentive plans was $8.3 million as of
December 31, 2005. Plan payouts may be in the range of 0% 
to 200% of the participant’s salary for the 2005 Plan, 0% to
150% of the participant’s salary for the 2006 Plan and 0% to
200% of the participant’s salary for the 2007 Plan. The 2006 
performance cycle was approved by the Management
Compensation and Development Committee of the Board of
Directors on January 19, 2006 and began on January 1, 2006
and will end on December 31, 2008, or the 2008 Plan. Plan 
payouts may be in the range of 0% to 200% of the participant’s
salary for the 2008 Plan. The estimated payout for the 2005
Plan is $4.5 million and maximum potential payouts are 
$4.5 million, $6.8 million and $7.2 million for the 2006, 2007
and 2008 Plans, respectively. The Company accrues the long-
term incentive liability over each three-year cycle. Prior to the
end of a three-year cycle, our accrual is based on an estimate 
of our level of achievement during the cycle. Upon a change in
control, participants will be entitled to an immediate payment
equal to their target award, or, if higher, an award based on
actual performance through the date of the change in control.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES 
ABOUT MARKET RISK

The following discussion provides forward-looking quanti-
tative and qualitative information about our potential exposure
to market risk.  Market risk represents the potential loss arising
from adverse changes in the value of financial instruments.  The
risk of loss is assessed based on the likelihood of adverse
changes in fair values, cash flows or future earnings.  

We have established guidelines relative to the diversification
and maturities of investments to maintain safety and liquidity.
These guidelines are reviewed periodically and may be modified
depending on market conditions.  Although investments may
be subject to credit risk, our investment policy specifies credit
quality standards for our investments and limits the amount
of credit exposure from any single issue, issuer or type of 
investment.  At December 31, 2005, our market risk sensitive
instruments consisted of marketable securities available for 
sale and unsecured convertible notes issued by us. 

The Company may periodically utilize foreign currency
denominated forward contracts to hedge currency fluctuations
of transactions denominated in currencies other than the 
functional currency.  At December 31, 2005, we had one foreign
currency forward contract outstanding to buy U.S. dollars and
sell Swiss francs for a notional amount of $62.0 million.  The
forward contract expires on April 13, 2006 and is an economic
hedge of a U.S. dollar payable of a Swiss foreign entity, which 
is remeasured through earnings each period based on changes
in the spot rate.  The unrealized loss on the forward contract,
based on its fair value at December 31, 2005, was approximately
$0.2 million, and was recorded in accrued expenses with the
offsetting loss recorded in earnings.  Assuming that the year-
end exchange rates between the U.S. dollar and the Swiss franc
were to adversely change by a hypothetical ten percent, the
change in the fair value of the contract would decrease by
approximately $6.4 million.  However, since the contract hedges
foreign currency payables, any change in the fair value of the
contract would be offset by a change in the underlying value 
of the hedged item.     

Marketable Securities Available for Sale: At December 31,
2005, our marketable securities available for sale consisted 
of U.S. government agency securities, mortgage-backed 
obligations, corporate debt securities and 1,939,600 shares 
of Pharmion common stock.  Marketable securities available 
for sale are carried at fair value, are held for an indefinite 
period of time and are intended to be used to meet our 
ongoing liquidity needs.  Unrealized gains and losses on 
available for sale securities, which are deemed to be temporary,
are reported as a separate component of stockholders’ equity,
net of tax.  The cost of all debt securities is adjusted for 
amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts to 
maturity. The amortization, along with realized gains and 
losses, is included in interest and other income, net.  At the 
end of 2005, we determined that two securities with an 
amortized cost basis of $7.0 million had sustained an other-
than-temporary impairment and recognized a $3.1 million
impairment loss related to these securities due to reductions in
their future estimated cash flows.   
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As of December 31, 2005, the principal amounts, fair values and related weighted average interest rates of our investments in

debt securities classified as marketable securities available-for-sale were as follows:

Duration

Less Than 1 to 3 3 to 5 5 to 7 Over
(In Thousands $) 1 Year Years Years Years 7 Years Total

Principal amount $272,760 $74,904 $227,402 $3,000 $2,900 $580,966

Fair value $272,857 $75,714 $213,070 $1,980 $2,856 $566,477

Average interest rate 4.4% 4.7% 4.4% 7.1% N/A 4.5%

Pharmion Common Stock: At December 31, 2005, we held a total of 1,939,600 shares of Pharmion Corporation common stock,

which had an estimated fair value of approximately $34.5 million (based on the closing price reported by the National Association

of Securities Dealers Automated Quotations, or NASDAQ system, and, which exceeded the cost by approximately $14.3 million.  

The amount by which the fair value exceeded the cost (i.e., the unrealized gain) was included in Accumulated Other Comprehensive

Income in the Stockholders’ Equity section of the Consolidated Balance Sheet. The fair value of the Pharmion common stock 

investment is subject to market price volatility and any increase or decrease in Pharmion’s common stock quoted market price will

have a similar percentage increase or decrease in the fair value of our investment.  

Convertible Debt: In June 2003, we issued an aggregate principal amount of $400.0 million of unsecured convertible notes.  

The convertible notes have a five-year term and a coupon rate of 1.75% payable semi-annually.  The convertible notes can be converted

at any time into 33,022,360 shares of common stock at a stock-split adjusted conversion price of $12.1125 per share (for more 

information see Note 10 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements). At December 31, 2005, the fair value of the 

convertible notes exceeded the carrying value of $400.0 million by approximately $660.0 million, which we believe reflects the

increase in the market price of our common stock to $32.40 per share, on a split-adjusted basis, as of December 31, 2005.  Assuming

other factors are held constant, an increase in interest rates generally results in a decrease in the fair value of fixed-rate convertible

debt, but does not impact the carrying value, and an increase in our stock price generally results in an increase in the fair value of 

convertible debt, but does not impact the carrying value.
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Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial

reporting and for the assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. As

defined by the Securities and Exchange Commission, internal control over financial reporting is a process

designed by, or under the supervision of our principal executive and principal financial officers and effected

by our Board of Directors, management and other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding

the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of the consolidated financial statements in 

accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Our internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to 

the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect our transactions and 

dispositions of our assets; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary 

to permit preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally accepted

accounting principles, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with

authorizations of our management and directors; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding 

prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our assets that could 

have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect

misstatements.  Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk

that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance

with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In connection with the preparation of our annual consolidated financial statements, management has

undertaken an assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of

December 31, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by 

the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, or the COSO Framework.

Management’s assessment included an evaluation of the design of our internal control over financial

reporting and testing of the operational effectiveness of those controls.

Based on this evaluation, management has concluded that our internal control over financial reporting 

was effective as of December 31, 2005.

KPMG LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm that audited our consolidated financial 

statements included in this report, has issued their report on management’s assessment of and the

effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, a copy of which is included herein.

C e l g e n e  C o r p o r a t i o n

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders 

Celgene Corporation: 

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial

Reporting, that Celgene Corporation and subsidiaries maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,

2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control--Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations 

of the Treadway Commission, or COSO. Celgene Corporation’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control

over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to

express an opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial

reporting based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those

standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over

financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over

financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal

control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides 

a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of

financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting

principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance

of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide

reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with

generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with

authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection

of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections

of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in

conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Celgene Corporation and subsidiaries maintained effective internal control over 

financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on criteria established in Internal Control —

Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, or COSO. Also, in our 

opinion, Celgene Corporation maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,

2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control--Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations 

of the Treadway Commission, or COSO. 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the 

consolidated balance sheets of Celgene Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated

statements of operations, cash flows and stockholders’ equity for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2005,

and the related consolidated financial statement schedule, and our report dated March 15, 2006 expressed an unqualified opinion 

on those consolidated financial statements and related schedule.

KPMG LLP

Short Hills, New Jersey

March 15, 2006
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders 

Celgene Corporation: 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Celgene Corporation and subsidiaries

as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of operations, cash flows and

stockholders’ equity for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2005. In connection

with our audits of the consolidated financial statements, we also have audited the consolidated financial

statement schedule, “Schedule II – Valuation and Qualifying Accounts.” These consolidated financial 

statements and consolidated financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s 

management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements and

consolidated financial statement schedule based on our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable

assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes

examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.

An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 

management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our

audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,

the financial position of Celgene Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and 

the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended

December 31, 2005, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion,

the related consolidated financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated

financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

(United States), the effectiveness of Celgene Corporation and subsidiaries’ internal control over financial

reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control–Integrated Framework

issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, or COSO, and our

report dated March 15, 2006 expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of, and the

effective operation of, internal control over financial reporting.

Short Hills, New Jersey

March 15, 2006
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31, 

(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts) 2005 2004

Assets

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $0,123,316 $0,135,227 

Marketable securities available for sale 600,944 613,310 

Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $3,739 and $2,208

at December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004, respectively 77,913 46,074 

Inventory 20,242 24,404 

Deferred income taxes 113,059 4,082 

Other current assets 37,363 26,783 

Total current assets 972,837 849,880 

Property, plant and equipment, net 77,477 53,738 

Investment in affiliated company 17,017 —   

Intangible assets, net 96,988 108,955 

Goodwill 33,815 41,258 

Deferred income taxes 31,260 14,613 

Other assets 17,243 38,849 

Total assets $1,246,637 $1,107,293 

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $00,16,414 $00,18,650 

Accrued expenses 92,908 68,534 

Income taxes payable 14,715 41,188 

Current portion of deferred revenue 6,473 6,926 

Deferred income taxes — 5,447 

Other current liabilities 5,127 670 

Total current liabilities 135,637 141,415 

Long term convertible notes 399,984 400,000 

Deferred revenue, net of current portion 59,067 73,992 

Other non-current liabilities 16,174 14,442 

Total liabilities 610,862 629,849 

Commitments and Contingencies

Stockholders’ equity:

Preferred stock, $.01 par value per share, 5,000,000 shares

authorized; none outstanding at December 31, 2005 and 2004 —   —   

Common stock, $.01 par value per share, 575,000,000 and 275,000,000 shares

authorized at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively; issued 344,125,158 

and 165,079,198 shares at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively 3,441 1,651 

Common stock in treasury, at cost;  1,953,282 and 10,564 shares

at December 31, 2005 and December 31,  2004, respectively (50,601) (306)

Additional paid-in capital 853,601 641,907 

Accumulated deficit (170,754) (234,410)

Accumulated other comprehensive income 88 68,602 

Total stockholders’ equity 635,775 477,444 

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $1,246,637 $1,107,293 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
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Consolidated Statements of Operations

Years Ended December 31, 

(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts) 2005 2004 2003

Revenue:

Net product sales $445,625 $330,571 $244,453 

Collaborative agreements and other revenue 41,334 20,012 15,174 

Royalty revenue 49,982 26,919 11,848 

Total revenue 536,941 377,502 271,475 

Expenses:

Cost of goods sold 80,727 59,726 52,950 

Research and development 190,834 160,852 122,700 

Selling, general and administrative 181,796 114,196 98,474 

Total expenses 453,357 334,774 274,124 

Operating income (loss) 83,584 42,728 (2,649)

Other income and expense:

Interest and other income, net 17,048 29,994 38,369 

Equity in losses of affiliated company 6,923 —   4,392 

Interest expense 9,497 9,551 5,667 

Income before income taxes 84,212 63,171 25,661 

Income tax provision 20,556 10,415 718 

Income from continuing operations 63,656 52,756 24,943 

Discontinued operations:

Gain on sale of chiral assets — — 750 

Net income $063,656 $052,756 $025,693 

Income from continuing operations per common share:

Basic   $0000.19 $0000.16 $0000.08

Diluted $0000.18 $0000.15 $0000.07 

Discontinued operations per common share:

Basic   $0000,— $0000,—   $0000.01 

Diluted $0000,— $0000,—   $0000.01 

Net income per common share:

Basic  $0000.19 $0000.16 $0000.08 

Diluted $00v0.18 $0000.15 $0000.08 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
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Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity 
Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003

Common Treasury
(Dollars in thousands) Stock Stock

Balances at December 31, 2002 $0,802 $0000—   

Net income 
Other comprehensive income:

Net change in unrealized gain on available for sale securities, net of tax

Less: reclassification adjustment for gain included in net income

Comprehensive income 

Exercise of stock options and warrants 11 

Issuance of common stock for employee benefit plans 1 

Expense related to non-employee stock options and restricted stock granted to employees

Income tax benefit upon exercise of stock options

Collection of notes receivable from stockholders

Balances at December 31, 2003 $0,814 $0000—   

Net income
Other comprehensive income:

Net change in unrealized gain on available for sale securities, net of tax

Less: reclassification adjustment for gain included in net income

Currency translation adjustments

Comprehensive income

Treasury stock - mature shares tendered related to option exercise (306)

Issuance of common stock related to the 2:1 stock split 823

Exercise of stock options and warrants 13

Issuance of common stock for employee benefit plans 1

Expense related to non-employee stock options and restricted stock granted to employees

Income tax benefit upon exercise of stock options

Balances at December 31, 2004 $1,651 $00,(306)

Net income
Other comprehensive income:

Net change in unrealized (loss) on available for sale securities, net of tax

Less: reclassification adjustment for gain included in net income

Income tax benefit upon recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities

Currency translation adjustments

Comprehensive income

Recognition of deferred tax asset

Treasury stock - mature shares tendered related to option exercise (50,295)

Issuance of common stock related to the 2:1 stock split 1,720 

Conversion of long-term convertible notes

Exercise of stock options and warrants 69 

Issuance of common stock for employee benefit plans 1 

Expense related to restricted stock granted to employees

Income tax benefit upon exercise of stock options

Balances at December 31, 2005 $3,441 $(50,601)

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
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Notes Accumulated
Additional Receivable Other

Paid-in Accumulated  from Comprehensive
Capital Deficit Stockholders Income (Loss) Total

$591,277 $(312,859) $0(42) $07,028 $286,206 

25,693 25,693 

10,939 10,939 

(7,355) (7,355)

$029,277 

11,959 11,970 

2,774 2,775 

704 704 

770 770 

42 42 

$607,484 $(287,166) $0(—   $10,612 $331,744 

52,756 52,756

56,362 56,362

(3,050) (3,050)

4,678 4,678

$110,746

(306)

(823) —

16,329 16,342

4,266 4,267

449 449

14,202 14,202

$641,907 $(234,410) $0(— $68,602 $477,444

63,656 63,656 

(46,171) (46,171)

1,853 1,853 

(14,775) (14,775)

(9,421) (9,421)

$(4,858)

30,199 30,199 

(50,295)

(1,720) —

16 16 

76,346 76,415 

3,506 3,507 

(243) (243)

103,590 103,590 

$853,601 $(170,754) $0(— $000,88 $635,775 
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended December 31, 

(Dollars in thousands) 2005 2004 2003

(Revised)Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $63,656 $52,756 $25,693 
Discontinued operations — — (750)

Income from continuing operations 63,656 52,756 24,943 

Adjustments to reconcile income from continuing operations
to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization of long-term assets 14,286 9,690 8,027 
Provision for accounts receivable allowances 11,463 8,315 5,951 
Realized loss (gain) on marketable securities available for sale 1,853 (3,050) (7,355)
Unrealized loss (gain) on value of EntreMed warrants 6,875 1,922 (16,574)
Equity losses of affiliated company 6,923 —   4,392 
Non-cash stock-based compensation expense (243) 449 704 
Amortization of premium/discount on marketable securities available for sale, net 1,763 2,085 1,238 
Loss on asset disposals 290 —   84 
Amortization of debt issuance cost 2,443 2,443 1,422 
Amortization of discount on note obligation 53 108 137 
Deferred income taxes (91,356) (79,847) —   
Shares issued for employee benefit plans 3,506 4,267 2,775 

Change in current assets and liabilities, excluding the effect of acquisition:
Increase in accounts receivable (43,496) (13,051) (23,776)
Decrease (increase) in inventory 4,125 (11,192) (4,891)
(Increase) decrease in other operating assets (21,514) 59,978 (9,253)
Increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses 11,809 1,454 30,599 
Increase (decrease) in income tax payable 74,155 40,404 (196)
(Decrease) increase in deferred revenue (4,674) 79,208 498 

Net cash provided by operating activities 41,917 155,939 18,725 

Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures (35,861) (36,015) (11,227)
Purchase of intangible assets (122) —   —   
Business acquisition (7,152) (109,882) —   
Proceeds from the sale of equipment —  —   138 
Proceeds from sales and maturities of marketable securities available for sale 598,319 539,200 415,595 
Purchases of marketable securities available for sale (647,815) (478,939) (836,827)
Investment in affiliated company (10,500) —   (12,000)
Purchase of investment securities — (7,000) —   
Proceeds from the sale of discontinued operations -chiral assets — — 750 

Net cash used in investing activities (103,131) (92,636) (443,571)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Net proceeds from exercise of common stock options and warrants 52,640 16,036 11,970 
Proceeds from convertible notes — —   400,000 
Debt issuance cost — —   (12,212)
Proceeds from notes receivable from stockholders — —   42 
Repayment of capital lease and note obligations (9) (34) (101)

Net cash provided by financing activities 52,631 16,002 399,699 

Effect of currency rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (3,328) (4,406) —   
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (11,911) 74,899 (25,147)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 135,227 60,328 85,475 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $123,316 $135,227 $60,328

Supplemental schedule of non-cash investing and financing activity:
Change in net unrealized (loss) gain on marketable securities available for sale $ (60,098) $ 53,312 $ (3,584)

Matured shares tendered for stock option exercises and employee tax withholdings (50,295) (306) —

Conversion of convertible notes 16 — —

Accrual for business acquisition — 7,499 —

Accrual for license acquisition 4,250 — —

Equipment acquisition on capital leases — — 110 

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Interest paid $ 7,000 $ 7,000 $ 3,584 

Income taxes paid 36,258 5,493 (653) 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2005 (Thousands of dollars, except per share amounts, unless otherwise indicated)

Nature of Business and Basis of Presentation: Celgene Corporation and its subsidiaries (collectively

“Celgene” or the “Company”) is an integrated biopharmaceutical company primarily engaged in the discovery,

development and commercialization of innovative therapies designed to treat cancer and immune-

inflammatory diseases through regulation of cellular, genomic and proteomic targets. The Company’s 

commercial stage programs include pharmaceutical sales of REVLIMID®, THALOMID®, and ALKERAN® 

and sales of FOCALIN™ to Novartis Pharma AG, or Novartis; a licensing agreement with Novartis which

entitles us to royalties on FOCALIN XRTM and the entire RITALIN® family of drugs; a licensing and product

supply agreement with Pharmion for its sales of thalidomide; and sales of bio-therapeutic products and

services through its Cellular Therapeutics subsidiary. 

REVLIMID® is an oral immunomodulatory drug approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, 

or FDA, on December 27, 2005 for the treatment of patients with transfusion-dependent anemia due 

to low- or intermediate-1-risk myelodysplastic syndromes associated with a deletion 5q cytogenetic 

abnormality with or without additional cytogenetic abnormalities distributed through contracted 

pharmacies under the RevAssistSM program, which is a proprietary risk-management distribution program

tailored specifically for REVLIMID®. THALOMID® (thalidomide), approved by the FDA for the treatment

of acute cutaneous manifestations of moderate to severe erythema nodosum leprosum, or ENL, an 

inflammatory complication of leprosy, is widely prescribed for treating multiple myeloma and other 

cancers. Net THALOMID® product sales accounted for approximately 72%, 82% and 82% of total revenues

in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. In October 2004, the Company acquired all of the outstanding shares

of Penn T Limited, the UK-based manufacturer of THALOMID®. This acquisition expanded the Company’s

corporate capabilities and enabled the Company to control manufacturing for THALOMID® worldwide. 

In March 2003, the Company entered into a supply and distribution agreement with GlaxoSmithKline, or

GSK, to distribute, promote and sell in the United States ALKERAN® (melphalan), a therapy approved for

the palliative treatment of multiple myeloma and of carcinoma of the ovary. FOCALIN™ is approved by the

FDA for the treatment of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder, or ADHD, in children and adolescents.

FOCALIN XR™, an extended release version is approved for the treatment of ADHD in adults, adolescents

and children. FOCALIN™ and FOCALIN XR™ are marketed by Novartis. Under the agreement with Novartis,

the Company receives royalty payments on the entire RITALIN® family line of products. In December 2002,

the Company acquired Anthrogenesis Corp., or Celgene Cellular Therapeutics, a privately held New Jersey

based biotherapeutics company and cord blood banking business, which is pioneering the recovery of stem

cells from human placental tissues following the completion of full-term, successful pregnancies. The 

portfolio of products in the Company’s preclinical and clinical-stage pipeline includes IMiDs® compounds,

TNFa inhibitors, benzopyrans, kinases inhibitors and ligase inhibitors. 

On December 27, 2005, the Company announced that the Board of Directors approved a two-for-one

stock split payable in the form of a 100 percent stock dividend. Stockholders received one additional share

for every share they owned as of the close of business on February 17, 2006. The additional shares were

distributed on February 24, 2006. As a result, the Company’s authorized shares increased from 280,000,000

to 580,000,000 and shares outstanding increased from 172,057,726 shares to 344,115,452 shares as of 

the close of business on February 24, 2006. All share and per share amounts in the consolidated financial

statements have been restated to reflect the two-for-one stock split effective February 17, 2006. 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Celgene Corporation and its subsidiaries.

All inter-company transactions and balances have been eliminated. The equity method of accounting is

used for the Company’s investment in EntreMed common shares. Certain reclassifications have been 

made to prior years’ financial statements in order to conform to the current year’s presentation. 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates

and assumptions that affect reported amounts and disclosures. Actual results could differ from those 

estimates. The Company is subject to certain risks and uncertainties such as uncertainty of product

1. Nature of Business
and Summary of 
Significant Accounting 
Policies
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development, uncertainties regarding regulatory approval, no assurance of market acceptance of products,

risk of product liability, uncertain scope of patent and proprietary rights, intense competition, and rapid

technological change. 

Cash Flow Statement Revision: The Company reports cash flows from operations using the indirect

method as permitted under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards, or SFAS, No. 95, “Statement

of Cash Flows”. The Company previously followed the common practice of starting with income from 

continuing operations to reconcile to net operating cash flows. Upon further review, it was determined

that cash flows from operations, under the indirect method, should be reported by reconciling from net

income to net operating cash flows and therefore, the Company has revised its Consolidated Statement

of Cash Flows for the year ended December 31, 2003. The revision does not result in a change to net cash

provided by operating activities for the year then ended. 

Cash Equivalents: At December 31, 2005 and 2004, cash equivalents were $83.6 million and $24.8 

million, respectively, and consisted principally of highly liquid funds invested in commercial paper, money

market funds, and U.S. government securities such as treasury bills and notes. These instruments have

maturities of three months or less when purchased and are stated at cost, which approximates market

value because of the short maturity of these investments. 

Financial Instruments: Certain financial instruments reflected in the Consolidated Balance Sheets, 

(e.g., cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, certain other assets, accounts payable and certain

other liabilities) are recorded at cost, which approximate fair value due to their short-term nature. The fair

values of financial instruments other than marketable securities are determined through a combination 

of management estimates and information obtained from third parties using the latest market data. The

fair value of available for sale marketable securities is based on quoted market prices. The fair value of the

following financial instruments are disclosed in the following footnotes: marketable securities (Note 4);

EntreMed, Inc. common stock (Note 7); EntreMed, Inc. warrants (Note 8); convertible debt (Note 9); and 

a foreign currency forward contract is disclosed in the following paragraph.

Derivative Instruments: The Company may periodically utilize foreign currency denominated 

forward contracts to hedge currency fluctuations of transactions denominated in currencies other than 

the functional currency. At December 31, 2005, the Company had one foreign currency forward contract

outstanding to buy U.S. dollars and sell Swiss francs for a notional amount of $62.0 million. The forward

contract expires on April 13, 2006 and is an economic hedge of a U.S. dollar payable of a Swiss foreign 

entity, which is remeasured through earnings each period based on changes in the spot rate. The 

unrealized loss on the forward contract, based on its fair value at December 31, 2005, was approximately

$0.2 million, and was recorded in accrued expenses with the offsetting loss recorded in earnings.

Marketable Securities: The Company’s marketable securities are all classified as securities available for

sale in current assets and are carried at fair value. Such securities are held for an indefinite period of time

and are intended to be used to meet the ongoing liquidity needs of the Company. Unrealized gains and

losses (which are deemed to be temporary), if any, are reported in a separate component of stockholders’

equity. The cost of investments in debt securities is adjusted for amortization of premiums and accretion 

of discounts to maturity. The amortization, along with realized gains and losses, is included in interest and

other income. The cost of securities is based on the specific identification method.

Premiums and discounts are amortized or accreted over the life of the related available-for-sale 

security as an adjustment to yield using the effective-interest method. Dividend and interest income are

recognized when earned.

A decline in the market value of any available-for-sale security below cost that is deemed to be 

other-than-temporary results in a reduction in carrying amount to fair value. The impairment would be

charged to earnings and a new cost basis for the security established. Factors evaluated to determine 

if an investment is other-than-temporarily impaired include significant deterioration in the earnings 

performance, credit rating, asset quality, or business prospects of the issuer; adverse changes in the 

general market condition in which the issuer operates; the intent and ability to retain the investment

for a sufficient period of time to allow for recovery in the market value of the investment; and, issues 
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that raise concerns about the issuer’s ability to continue as a going concern. At the end of 2005, the

Company determined that two securities with an amortized cost basis of $7.0 million had sustained an

other-than-temporary impairment and recognized a $3.1 million impairment loss, which was recorded 

in interest and other income, net.

Concentration of Credit Risk: Cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities are financial instruments

that potentially subject the Company to concentration of credit risk. The Company invests its excess cash

primarily in U.S. government agency securities, mortgage obligations and marketable debt securities of

financial institutions and corporations with strong credit ratings. The Company may also invest in unrated

or below investment grade securities, such as collateralized debt obligations or equity in private companies.

The Company has established guidelines relative to diversification and maturities to maintain safety and

liquidity. These guidelines are reviewed periodically and may be modified to take advantage of trends in

yields and interest rates. The Company has the ability to sell these investments before maturity and has

therefore classified the investments as available for sale. The Company has not realized any significant

losses on disposal of its investments. 

As is typical in the pharmaceutical industry, the Company sells its products primarily through 

wholesale distributors and therefore, wholesale distributors account for a large portion of the Company’s

trade receivables and net product revenues. In light of this concentration, the Company continuously 

monitors the creditworthiness of its customers and has internal policies regarding customer credit

limits. The Company estimates an allowance for doubtful accounts based on the creditworthiness of its

customers as well as general economic conditions. An adverse change in those factors could affect the

Company’s estimate of its bad debts.

Inventory: Inventories are carried at the lower of cost or market. Cost is determined using the first-in,

first-out, or FIFO, method. 

Property, Plant and Equipment: Plant and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation of plant and

equipment is provided using the straight-line method. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the

lesser of the economic useful life of the asset or the remaining term of the lease. The estimated useful 

lives of fixed assets are as follows:

Buildings 40 years

Building and operating equipment 15 years

Machinery and equipment 5 years

Furniture and fixtures 5 years

Computer equipment and software 3 years

Maintenance and repairs are charged to operations as incurred, while renewals and improvements 

are capitalized.

Investment in Affiliated Company: On March 31, 2005, the Company exercised warrants to purchase

7,000,000 shares of EntreMed, Inc. common stock. Since the Company also holds 3,350,000 shares of

EntreMed voting preferred shares convertible into 16,750,000 shares of common stock, the Company 

determined that it has significant influence over its investee and is applying the equity method of 

accounting to its common stock investment effective March 31, 2005. As prescribed under the equity

method of accounting, the Company began recording its share of EntreMed gains and losses based on 

the Company’s common stock ownership percentage in the second quarter of 2005. 

The investment is reviewed to determine whether an other-than-temporary decline in value of the

investment has been sustained. If it is determined that the investment has sustained an other-than-

temporary decline in its value, the investment will be written down to its fair value. Such an evaluation is

judgmental and dependent on the specific facts and circumstances. Factors that the Company considers in

determining whether an other-than-temporary decline in value has occurred include: the market value of

the security in relation to its cost basis, the period of time that the market value is below cost, the financial

condition of the investee and the intent and ability to retain the investment for a sufficient period of time
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to allow for recovery in the market value of the investment. The Company evaluates information that it

is aware of in addition to quoted market prices, if any, in determining whether an other-than-temporary

decline in value exists. After reviewing these factors, the Company has determined that as of December 31,

2005 no adjustment to its investment is required. 

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets: Goodwill represents the excess of cost of an acquired entity 

over the fair value of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination. Under

SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”, or SFAS 142, goodwill and intangible assets acquired

in a purchase business combination and determined to have an indefinite useful life are not amortized, 

but instead are tested for impairment at least annually in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 142. 

SFAS 142 also requires that intangible assets with estimable useful lives be amortized to their estimated

residual values over their respective estimated useful lives, and reviewed for impairment in accordance

with SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets”, or SFAS 144. 

The Company’s intangible assets are categorized as either supply agreements, contract based 

agreements or technology. Amortization periods related to these categories range from 12 to 14 years.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets: In accordance with SFAS No. 144, long-lived assets, such as property,

plant, and equipment, software costs and purchased intangibles subject to amortization are reviewed for

impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset

may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the

carrying amount of an asset to the estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated 

by the asset. If the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated future undiscounted net cash flows,

an impairment charge is recognized by the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the

fair value of the asset. Assets to be disposed of would be separately presented in the consolidated balance

sheet and reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell, and are no longer

depreciated. The assets and liabilities of a disposed group classified as held for sale would be presented

separately in the appropriate asset and liability sections of the consolidated balance sheet. 

Business Combinations: SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations”, or SFAS 141, requires that all business

combinations be accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. The Company’s acquisitions of

Penn T Limited on October 21, 2004 and Anthrogenesis Corp. on December 31, 2002, were accounted for

using the purchase method. 

Foreign Currency Translation: Operations in non-U.S. subsidiaries are generally recorded in local 

currencies which are also the functional currencies for financial reporting purposes. The results of 

operations for non-U.S. subsidiaries are translated from local currencies into U. S. dollars using the average

currency rate during each period which approximates the results that would be obtained using actual 

currency rates on the dates of individual transactions. Assets and liabilities are translated using currency

rates at the end of the period with translation adjustments recorded as a component of other comprehensive

income. Transaction gains and losses are recorded as incurred in interest and other income, net in the

Consolidated Statement of Operations.

Acquired in-Process Research and Development (“IPR&D”): The value assigned to acquired 

in-process research and development is determined by identifying those acquired specific in-process

research and development projects that would be continued and for which (a) technological feasibility 

has not been established at the acquisition date, (b) there is no alternative future use, and (c) the fair 

value is estimable with reasonable reliability. Amounts assigned to IPR&D are charged to expense at

the acquisition date. 

Research and Development Costs: All research and development costs are expensed as incurred. 

These include all internal costs, external costs related to services contracted by the Company and research

services conducted for others. Research and development costs consist primarily of salaries and benefits,

contractor fees (paid principally to contract research organizations to assist in our clinical development

programs), cost of drug supplies for our clinical and pre-clinical programs, costs of other consumable

research supplies, regulatory and quality control expenditures and allocated facilities charges such as 

building rent and utilities. Upfront and milestone payments made to third parties in connection with

research and development collaborations are expensed as incurred up to the point of regulatory approval.
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Payments made to third parties subsequent to regulatory approval are capitalized and amortized over the

remaining useful life of the related product.

Income Taxes: The Company utilizes the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes.

Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the difference between 

the financial statement carrying amounts and tax bases of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates 

in effect for years in which the temporary differences are expected to reverse. A valuation allowance is 

provided when it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax asset will not be 

realized. Research and development tax credits will be recognized as a reduction of the provision for

income taxes when realized. 

Revenue Recognition: Revenue from the sale of products is recognized upon product shipment.

Provisions for discounts for early payments, rebates and sales returns under terms customary in the 

industry are provided for in the same period the related sales are recorded. Provisions recorded in 2005,

2004 and 2003 totaled approximately $103.2 million, $54.5 million and $38.8 million, respectively. 

Revenue under research contracts is recorded as earned under the contracts, as services are provided. 

In accordance with SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) No. 104 upfront nonrefundable fees associated

with license and development agreements where the Company has continuing involvement in the 

agreement, are recorded as deferred revenue and recognized over the estimated service period of the 

last item of performance to be delivered. If the estimated service period is subsequently modified, 

the period over which the up-front fee is recognized is modified accordingly on a prospective basis. 

SAB No. 104 requires companies to identify separate units of accounting based on the consensus

reached on Emerging Issues Task Force, or EITF, Issue No. 00-21, “Revenue Arrangements with Multiple

Deliverables”, or EITF 00-21. EITF 00-21 provides guidance on how to determine when an arrangement

that involves multiple revenue-generating activities or deliverables should be divided into separate units 

of accounting for revenue recognition purposes, and if this division is required, how the arrangement

consideration should be allocated among the separate units of accounting. EITF 00-21 is effective for 

revenue arrangements entered into in quarters beginning after June 15, 2003. If the deliverables in a 

revenue arrangement constitute separate units of accounting according to the EITF’s separation criteria,

the revenue-recognition policy must be determined for each identified unit. If the arrangement is a 

single unit of accounting, the revenue-recognition policy must be determined for the entire arrangement.

Revenues from the achievement of research and development milestones, which represent the achievement

of a significant step in the research and development process, are recognized when and if the milestones

are achieved. 

Continuation of certain contracts and grants are dependent upon the Company achieving specific 

contractual milestones; however, none of the payments received to date are refundable regardless of the

outcome of the project. Grant revenue is recognized in accordance with the terms of the grant and as 

services are performed, and generally equals the related research and development expense.

Stock-Based Compensation: The Company applies the intrinsic value-based method of accounting 

prescribed by Accounting Principles Board, or APB, Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to

Employees,” and related interpretations, in accounting for its fixed stock option plans. As such, 

compensation expense for grants to employees or members of the Board of Directors would be recorded 

on the date of grant only if the current market price of the Company’s stock exceeded the exercise price.

SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”, or SFAS 123, as amended, establishes accounting

and disclosure requirements using a fair value-based method of accounting for stock-based employee 

compensation plans. As permitted under SFAS 123, the Company has elected to continue to apply the

intrinsic value-based method of accounting described above, and has adopted the disclosure requirements

of SFAS 123, as amended.

If the exercise price of employee or director stock options is less than the fair value of the underlying

stock on the grant date, the Company amortizes such differences to expense over the vesting period of 

the options. Options or stock awards issued to non-employees and consultants are recorded at fair value 

as determined in accordance with SFAS 123 and EITF No. 96-18, “Accounting for Equity Instruments That
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Are Issued to Other Than Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Selling, Goods or Services,” and

expensed over the related vesting period.

The following table illustrates the effect on net income and net income per share as if the fair-value-

based method under SFAS 123 had been applied. Option forfeitures are accounted for as they occurred 

and no amounts of compensation expense have been capitalized into inventory or other assets, but instead

are considered period expenses in the pro forma amounts. Per share data has been adjusted to reflect the

February 17, 2006 two-for-one stock split.
2005 2004 2003

Net income, as reported $63,656 $52,756 $25,693

Add stock-based employee compensation (credit) expense

included in reported net income (2005 net of tax) (143) 250 250

Deduct total stock-based employee compensation expense 

determined under the fair value-based method 

(2005 net of tax)(1) (52,746) (26,027) (21,226)

Pro forma net income $10,767 $26,979 $04,717 

Net income per common share:

Basic, as reported $000.19 $000.16 $000.08

Basic, pro forma 0.03 0.08 0.01

Diluted, as reported 0.18 0.15 0.08

Diluted, pro forma 0.03 0.08 0.01

(1) Includes benefit attributable to recognizing deferred tax assets in 2005.

The weighted-average fair value per share was $9.60, $5.22 and $3.64 for stock options granted in

2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The Company estimated the fair values using the Black-Scholes option-

pricing model based on the following assumptions:
2005 2004 2003

Risk-free interest rate 4.24% 3.05% 2.39%

Expected stock price volatility 40.6% 47.4% 52.5%

Expected term until exercise (years) 4.20 3.70 3.50

Expected dividend yield 0 % 0% 0%

Earnings Per Share: Basic earnings per common share is computed by dividing net income by the

weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per common

share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding

during the period increased to include all additional common shares that would have been outstanding

assuming potentially dilutive common shares had been issued and any proceeds thereof used to repurchase

common stock at the average market price during the period. The proceeds used to repurchase common

stock are assumed to be the sum of the amount to be paid to the Company upon exercise of options, the

amount of compensation cost attributed to future services and not yet recognized and, if applicable, the

amount of income taxes that would be credited to or deducted from capital upon exercise.

Comprehensive Income (Loss): Comprehensive income (loss), which represents the change in equity

from non-owner sources, consists of net income (losses), changes in currency translation adjustments 

and the change in net unrealized gains (losses) on marketable securities classified as available for sale.

Comprehensive income (loss) is presented in the Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity.

Capitalized Software Costs: Capitalized software costs are capitalized in accordance with Statement of

Position No. 98-1, Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed and Obtained for Internal Use,

are included in other assets and are amortized over their estimated useful life of three years from the date

the systems are ready for their intended use. 
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New Accounting Principles: In December 2004 the FASB, issued SFAS No. 123R, “Share-Based Payment”,

or SFAS 123R. SFAS 123R requires compensation cost relating to share-based payment transactions be 

recognized in financial statements based on the fair value of the equity or liability instruments issued. 

SFAS 123R covers a wide range of share-based compensation arrangements including stock options,

restricted stock plans, performance-based awards, stock appreciation rights, and employee stock purchase

plans. SFAS 123R replaces SFAS 123, and supersedes APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to

Employees.” SFAS 123, as originally issued in 1995, established as preferable a fair-value-based method 

of accounting for share-based payment transactions with employees. However, SFAS 123 permitted 

entities to continue to apply the guidance in APB Opinion No. 25, as long as the footnotes to financial

statements disclosed what net income would have been had the preferable fair-value-based method been

used. The Company will be required to adopt the provisions of SFAS 123R in the first quarter of fiscal year

2006. Management is currently evaluating the requirements of SFAS 123R. The adoption of SFAS 123R is

expected to have a material effect on our consolidated financial statements as noted elsewhere in this

footnote. However, the calculation of compensation cost for share-based payment transactions after the

effective date of SFAS 123R may be different from the calculation of compensation cost under SFAS 123.

In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151, “Inventory Costs –An Amendment of ARB No. 43.

This Statement amends the guidance in ARB No. 43, Chapter 4, “Inventory Pricing,” to clarify the accounting

for abnormal amounts of idle facility expense, freight, handling costs, and wasted material (spoilage). 

The new rule requires that items such as idle facility expense, excessive spoilage, double freight, and

rehandling costs be recognized as current-period charges regardless of whether they meet the criterion 

of “so abnormal” as stated in ARB No. 43. Additionally, SFAS 151 requires that the allocation of fixed 

production overheads to the costs of conversion be based on the normal capacity of the production 

facilities. SFAS 151 is effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2005. The Company is currently 

evaluating the potential impact of this pronouncement on its financial position and results of operations.

EITF Issue No. 03-01, “The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment and Its Application to

Certain Investments,” or EITF 03-01, was issued in February 2004. The provisions of EITF 03-01 for measuring

and recognizing an other-than-temporary impairment proved controversial and as a result, FASB Staff

Position (“FSP”) FSP FAS 115-1 and FAS 124-1, “The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment and 

Its Application to Certain Investments,” was issued in November 2005, clarifying the requirements of 

EITF 03-01 concerning the evaluation of whether an impairment is other-than-temporary. FSP FAS 115-1

and FAS 124-1 refers to SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) Topic 5M, “Other Than Temporary Impairment

of Certain Investments In Debt And Equity Securities,” and EITF Issue No. 99-20, “Recognition of Interest

Income and Impairment on Purchased and Retained Beneficial Interest in Securitized Financial Assets,” to

evaluate whether an impairment is other than temporary. We are in compliance with these requirements

and continue to monitor these developments to assess the possible impact on our financial position and

results of operations. 

Penn T Limited: On October 21, 2004, the Company, through an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary,

acquired all of the outstanding shares of Penn T Limited, or Penn T, a worldwide supplier of THALOMID®,

from a consortium of private investors for a US dollar equivalency of approximately $117.0 million in cash,

net of cash acquired and including working capital adjustments and transaction costs paid during the first

quarter of 2005. Penn T was subsequently renamed Celgene UK Manufacturing II, Limited, or CUK II. 

The results of CUK II after October 21, 2004 are included in the consolidated financial statements.

2. Acquisitions and
Dispositions
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The purchase price allocation resulted in the following amounts being allocated to the assets received

and liabilities assumed based upon their respective fair values.

Current assets, net of cash acquired $016,855

Intangible assets 99,841

Goodwill 35,465

Assets acquired 152,161

Current liabilities 1,983

Deferred taxes 33,144

Liabilities assumed 35,127

Net assets acquired $117,034

Prior to the acquisition, Celgene and Penn T were parties to a manufacturing agreement pursuant

to which Penn T manufactured THALOMID® for Celgene. Through a manufacturing agreement entered 

into with a third party in connection with the acquisition, the Company is able to control manufacturing

for THALOMID® worldwide and increases its participation in the potential growth of THALOMID® 

opportunities in key international markets. This acquisition was accounted for using the purchase 

method of accounting for business combinations. 

The intangible assets consist principally of a product supply agreement that is being amortized over

its useful life, which is 13 years. The resulting goodwill and intangible asset have been assigned to the

Company’s Human Pharmaceuticals operating segment.

The following unaudited pro forma information presents a summary of consolidated results of 

operations for the year ended December 31, 2004 as if the acquisition of Penn T had occurred on 

January 1, 2004, adjusted to reflect the February 17, 2006 two-for-one stock split. The unaudited pro 

forma results of operations is presented for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily indicative 

of the operating results that would have occurred if the transaction had been consummated at the date

indicated, nor is it necessarily indicative of future operating results of the combined companies and 

should not be construed as representative of these amounts for any future dates or periods.

Pro forma (unaudited) 2004

Total revenues $394,097

Net income 56,661

Net income per diluted share $0000.16

The unaudited pro forma information includes an adjustment to reflect the amortization of intangible

assets resulting from the acquisition. 

Disposition of Chiral Intermediates Business: In January 1998, the Company completed the sale of its

chiral intermediate business to Cambrex Corporation. The Company received $7.5 million upon the closing

of the transaction and is entitled to future royalties, with a present value not exceeding $7.5 million and

certain minimum royalty payments due in 2000 through 2003. Included in the transaction were the rights

to Celgene’s enzymatic technology for the production of chirally pure intermediates for the pharmaceutical

industry, including the pipeline of third party products and the equipment and personnel associated 

with the business. Pursuant to the minimum royalty provision of the agreement, the Company received

approximately $0.8 million during 2003. The chiral intermediates business is presented as a discontinued

operation in the consolidated financial statements.
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2005 2004 2003

Income available to common stockholders:

Income from continuing operations $63,656 $52,756 $24,943

Discontinued Operations - gain on sale of chiral assets — — 750

Net income 63,656 52,756 25,693

Interest expense on convertible debt, net of tax 5,571 — —

Net income available to common stockholders $69,227 $52,756 $25,693

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding:

Basic: 335,512 327,738 323,548

Effect of dilutive securities:

Options 21,204 17,062 17,480

Warrants 353 436 372

Restricted shares and other long-term incentives 494 474 192

Convertible debt 33,022 — —

Diluted: 390,585 345,710 341,592

Earnings Per Share:

Income from continuing operations

Basic $000.19 $000.16 $000.08

Diluted $000.18 $000.15 $000.07

Discontinued operations

Basic $000, — $000, — $000, —

Diluted $000, — $000, — $000.01

Net income

Basic $000.19 $000.16 $000.08

Diluted $000.18 $000.15 $000.08

The potential common shares related to the convertible notes issued June 3, 2003 (see Note 9) 

were anti-dilutive and were excluded from the diluted earnings per share computation for the years 2004

and 2003. The total number of potential common shares excluded from the diluted earnings per share

computation because their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive was 10,224, 41,686,756 and 42,257,440

shares in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Share and per share amounts have been adjusted to reflect

the February 17, 2006 two-for-one stock split.

The amortized cost, gross unrealized holding gains, gross unrealized holding losses and estimated fair

value of available-for-sale securities by major security type and class of security at December 31, 2005 and

2004 was as follows:
Gross Gross Estimated

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
December 31, 2005 Cost Gain Loss Value

Mortgage-backed obligations $118,222 $00,366 $(1,459) $117,129

Government agency bonds and notes 95,961 39 (2,373) 93,627

Corporate debt securities 128,292 192 (5,338) 123,146

Auction rate notes 232,575 — — 232,575

Marketable equity securities 20,212 14,255 — 34,467

$595,262 $14,852 $(9,170) $600,944

3. Earnings Per
Share (EPS)

4. Marketable
Securities
Available for Sale



54

C e l g e n e  C o r p o r a t i o n

Gross Gross Estimated
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair

December 31, 2004 Cost Gain Loss Value

Mortgage-backed obligations $166,959 $01,107 $0,(904) $167,162

Government agency bonds and notes 798 — (7) 791

Corporate debt securities 147,864 2,723 (650) 149,937

Auction rate notes 213,550 — — 213,550

Marketable equity securities 20,212 61,658 — 81,870

$549,383 $65,488 $(1,561) $613,310

The fair value of available-for-sale securities with unrealized losses at December 31, 2005 was 

as follows:

Less than 12 months 12 months or longer Total

Estimated Gross Estimated Gross Estimated Gross
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized

December 31, 2005 Value Loss Value Loss Value Loss

Mortgage-backed obligations $026,211 $0,218 $46,699 $1,241 $072,910 $1,459

Government agency bonds

and notes 78,469 2,364 236 9 78,705 2,373

Corporate debt securities 100,875 4,633 14,295 705 115,170 5,338

$205,555 $7,215 $61,230 $1,955 $266,785 $9,170

Government agency bonds and notes include U.S. Treasury and U.S. government agency obligations.

Unrealized losses for mortgage-backed obligations and government agency bonds and notes were 

primarily due to increases in interest rates. Unrealized losses for corporate debt securities were primarily

due to increases in interest rates as well as downgrades by corporate bond rating agencies. Celgene has

more then sufficient liquidity and the intent to hold these securities until the market value recovers.

Moreover, the Company does not believe it is probable that it will be unable to collect all amounts due

according to the contractual terms of the individual investments. 

Duration of debt securities classified as available-for-sale were as follows at December 31, 2005: 

Amortized Fair
Cost Value

Duration of one year or less $273,007 $272,857

Duration of one through three years 76,632 75,714

Duration of three through five years 219,569 213,070

Duration of five through seven years 2,985 1,980

Duration greater than seven years 2,857 2,856

$575,050 $566,477



55

C e l g e n e  C o r p o r a t i o n

Inventory at December 31, 2005 and 2004 consisted of the following:
2005 2004

Raw materials $05,044 $04,081

Work in process 1,644 4,356

Finished goods 13,554 15,967

$20,242 $24,404

Plant and equipment at December 31, 2005 and 2004 consisted of the following:
2005 2004

Land $17,836 $14,700

Buildings 12,509 10,658

Building and operating equipment 2,618 —

Leasehold improvements 8,741 14,355

Machinery and equipment 27,603 22,955

Furniture and fixtures 6,751 3,865

Computer equipment and software 22,370 11,989

Construction in progress 7,103 63

105,531 78,585

Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization 28,054 24,847

$77,477 $53,738

On March 31, 2005, the Company exercised warrants to purchase 7,000,000 shares of EntreMed, Inc. 

common stock at an aggregate cost of $10.5 million. The fair value of the warrants at the time of exercise

was estimated to be approximately $12.9 million. As a result, the total value ascribed to the Company’s

investment was $23.4 million. Since the Company also holds 3,350,000 shares of EntreMed voting preferred

shares that are convertible into 16,750,000 shares of common stock, the Company determined that it has

significant influence over its investee and is applying the equity method of accounting to its common stock

investment effective March 31, 2005. At March 31, 2005, the residual investment, after taking a charge 

of approximately $4.4 million to write down the portion of the investment ascribed to in-process research

and development (the charge was included in equity losses of affiliated company), exceeded the Company’s

proportionate share of the EntreMed net assets by approximately $13.4 million and consisted of goodwill

and intangibles of approximately $12.6 million and $0.8 million, respectively. As prescribed under the 

equity method of accounting, the Company began recording its share of EntreMed gains and losses based

on the Company’s common stock ownership percentage subsequent to that date. The investment in

EntreMed had a carrying value of approximately $17.0 million at December 31, 2005, which exceeds 

estimated fair value of the Company’s common stock investment by approximately $3.4 million based 

on the closing share price of EntreMed common stock on December 31, 2005. The Company deems this

decline below carrying value to be temporary. Financial results of the EntreMed equity method investment

are included in the human pharmaceuticals segment.

5. Inventory

6. Plant and
Equipment

7. Investment in
Affiliated Company
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A summary of EntreMed’s financial information follows: 

December 31, 2005
(Unaudited)

Current assets $35,326

Noncurrent assets 1,106

Total assets $36,432

Current liabilities $06,649

Noncurrent liabilities 230

Minority interest 17

Total equity 29,536

Total liabilities and equity $36,432

(Audited)

Interest in EntreMed equity(1) $04,025

Excess of investment over share of EntreMed equity 12,992

Total investment $17,017 

Nine-Month Period Ended
December 31, 2005

(Unaudited)

Total revenues $ 5,893

Operating loss 11,648

Net loss 10,792

(Audited)

Celgene share of EntreMed, Inc. losses(1) $ 1,617

Amortization of intangibles 236

Write-off of in-process research and development 4,383

Elimination of inter-company transaction 687

Equity in losses of affiliated company $ 6,923

(1) The Company records its share of losses based on its common stock ownership of approximately 14% at December 31, 2005.

On February 2, 2006 the Company, along with a group of investors, entered into an agreement to

invest $30.0 million in EntreMed in return for newly issued EntreMed common stock and warrants to 

purchase additional shares of EntreMed common stock at a conversion price of $2.3125 per warrant.

The Company’s portion of the investment was $2.0 million for which it received 864,864 shares of

EntreMed common stock and 432,432 warrants. The warrants will be accounted for at fair value with

changes in fair value recorded through earnings.
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Accrued expenses at December 31, 2005 and 2004 consisted of the following:
2005 2004

Professional and consulting fees $03,906 $02,026

Accrued compensation 22,087 15,783

Accrued interest, royalties and license fees 18,181 12,840

Accrued sales returns 5,017 9,595

Accrued rebates and chargebacks 27,763 9,255

Accrued acquisition related costs — 8,010

Accrued clinical trial costs 10,866 7,440

Accrued insurance and taxes 2,256 1,882

Other 2,832 1,703

$92,908 $68,534

Other assets at December 31, 2005 and 2004 consisted of the following:
2005 2004

Long-term investments $07,000 $07,000

Long-term deposits 1,754 1,495

Debt issuance costs 5,904 8,347

EntreMed Inc. warrants — 19,768

Other 2,585 2,239

$17,243 $38,849

On March 31, 2005, the Company exercised the EntreMed Inc. warrants to purchase 7,000,000 shares

of EntreMed common stock and has applied the equity method of accounting to its common stock investment

in EntreMed subsequent to that date. Interest and other income, net included unrealized losses of $6.9 

million and $1.9 million related to EntreMed warrants for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004,

respectively. 

In June 2003, the Company issued an aggregate principal amount of $400.0 million of unsecured 

convertible notes. The notes have a five-year term and a coupon rate of 1.75% payable semi-annually on

June 1 and December 1. Each $1,000 principal amount of convertible notes is convertible into 82.5592

shares of common stock as adjusted, or a conversion rate of $12.1125 per share, which represented a 

50% premium to the closing price on May 28, 2003 of the Company’s common stock of $8.075, after

adjusting prices for the two-for-one stock splits affected on February 17, 2006 and October 22, 2004. 

The debt issuance costs related to these convertible notes, which totaled approximately $12.2 million, 

are classified under “Other Assets” on the consolidated balance sheet and are being amortized over five

years, assuming no conversion. Under the terms of the purchase agreement, the noteholders can convert

the outstanding notes at any time into 33,022,360 shares of common stock at the conversion price. In 

addition, the noteholders have the right to require the Company to redeem the notes in cash at a price

equal to 100% of the principal amount to be redeemed, plus accrued interest, prior to maturity in the 

event of a change of control and certain other transactions defined as a “fundamental change”, within the

agreement. The Company registered the notes and common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes

with the Securities and Exchange Commission, and is required to use reasonable best efforts to keep the

related registration statement effective for the defined period. During the year ended December 31, 2005,

an immaterial amount of principal was converted into common stock.

At December 31, 2005 and 2004, the fair value of the Company’s convertible notes exceeded the 

carrying value of $400.0 million by approximately $660.0 million and $117.0 million respectively.

8. Other Financial 
Information

9. Convertible Debt
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Intangible Assets: At December 31, 2005, the Company’s intangible assets primarily related to the

October 21, 2004 acquisition of Penn T and are being amortized over their estimated useful lives. In

December 2005, the Company recognized a $4.3 million intangible for a licensing agreement with

Children’s Medical Center Corporation, or CMCC, which is being amortized over the patent life of the 

related product. Intangible asset balances related to the acquisition of Anthrogenesis Corp. were eliminated

during the first quarter of 2005 as prescribed by SFAS 109 “Accounting for Income Taxes” due to reversal 

of the valuation allowance for deferred tax assets recorded at time of acquisition. The gross carrying 

value and accumulated amortization by major intangible asset class at December 31, 2005 and 2004 

were as follows:

2005

Gross Cumulative Intangible Weighted
Carrying Accumulated Translation Assets, Average

Value Amortization Adjustment Net Life (Years)

Penn T supply agreements $099,841 $(2,787) $(4,435) $92,619 12.9

License 4,250 — — 4,250 13.8

Technology 122 (3) — 119 12.0

Total $104,213 $(2,790) $(4,435) $96,988 13.0

2004

Gross Cumulative Intangible Weighted
Carrying Accumulated Translation Assets, Average

Value Amortization Adjustment Net Life (Years)

Penn T acquisition:

Supply agreements $099,841 $0(75) $6,802 $106,568 12.9

Anthrogenesis acquisition:

Supplier relationships 710 (284) — 426 5.0

Customer lists 1,700 (227) — 1,473 15.0

Technology 609 (121) — 488 10.0

Total $102,860 $(707) $6,802 $108,955 12.9

Amortization of acquired intangible assets was approximately $2.1 million and $0.4 million for the

years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Assuming no changes in the gross carrying amount

of intangible assets, the amortization of intangible assets for the next five fiscal years is estimated to be

approximately $8.5 million for 2006 and $8.1 million for each of the years 2007 through 2010.

10. Goodwill and
Intangible Assets
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Goodwill: At December 31, 2005, the Company’s recorded goodwill related to the acquisition of Penn T

on October 21, 2004 and has been allocated to the Company’s human pharmaceuticals segment. Goodwill

related to the acquisition of Anthrogenesis Corp. was eliminated during the first quarter of 2005 as pre-

scribed by SFAS 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” due to reversal of the valuation allowance for deferred

tax assets that had been recorded at time of acquisition. The changes in the carrying value of goodwill are

summarized as follows:

Human Stem Cell
Pharmaceuticals Therapy Total

Balance, December 31, 2003 $000,— $3,490 $03,490

Proceeds from sale of net operating loss tax benefit — (484) (484)

Penn T acquisition 35,812 — 35,812

Foreign currency translation 2,440 — 2,440

Balance, December 31, 2004 $38,252 $3,006 $41,258

Reversal of deferred tax asset valuations — (3,006) (3,006) 

Purchase accounting adjustments (347) — (347)

Foreign currency translation (4,090) — (4,090)

Balance, December 31, 2005 $33,815 $00, — $33,815

EntreMed earns royalty income relating to THALOMID®. As prescribed under the equity method of

accounting, the Company eliminates its share of EntreMed’s royalty income. 

In March 2005, the Company licensed to EntreMed rights to develop and commercialize its tubulin

inhibitor compounds. Under the terms of the agreement, Celgene received an up-front license payment

of $1.0 million and is entitled to additional payments upon successful completion of certain clinical, 

regulatory and sales milestones. Under the agreement, EntreMed will provide all resources needed to 

conduct clinical research and regulatory activities associated with seeking marketing approvals of the

tubulin inhibitors for oncology applications.

Preferred Stock: The Board of Directors is authorized to issue, at any time, without further stockholder

approval, up to 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock, and to determine the price, rights, privileges, and 

preferences of such shares.

Common Stock: On December 27, 2005, the Company announced a two-for-one stock split payable in

the form of a 100 percent stock dividend to shareholders of record on February 17, 2006. On February 16,

2006, the Company’s shareholders approved an increase in the number of authorized common shares of

stock from 275,000,000 to 575,000,000 with a par value of $.01 per share, of which 342,171,876 shares

were outstanding at December 31, 2005.

Treasury Stock: During 2005, certain employees exercised certain stock options containing a reload

feature and, pursuant to our stock option plan, tendered 1,831,054 mature shares related to stock option

exercises. Such tendered shares are reflected as treasury stock. At December 31, 2005, treasury shares

totaled 1,953,282.

11. Related Party
Transactions

12. Stockholders’ 
Equity
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A summary of changes in common stock issued and treasury stock is presented below:

Common Stock
Balance December 31, Common Stock in Treasury

2002 80,176,713 — 

Exercise of stock options and warrants 1,105,074 — 

Issuance of common stock for employee benefit plans 129,268 — 

2003 81,411,055 — 

Exercise of stock options and warrants 1,300,297 — 

Issuance of common stock for employee benefit plans 98,215 — 

Treasury stock – mature shares tendered related to option exercises — (5,282) 

Issuance of common stock related to 2:1 stock split 82,269,631 (5,282) 

2004 165,079,198 (10,564)

Exercise of stock options and warrants 6,850,375 — 

Issuance of common stock for employee benefit plans 132,346 — 

Treasury stock – mature shares tendered related to option exercises — (966,077)

Conversion of long-term convertible notes 660 — 

Issuance of common stock related to 2:1 stock split 172,062,579 (976,641)

2005 344,125,158 (1,953,282)

Rights Plan: During 1996, the Company adopted a shareholder rights plan, or Rights Plan. The Rights

Plan involves the distribution of one Right as a dividend on each outstanding share of the Company’s 

common stock to each holder of record on September 26, 1996. Each Right shall entitle the holder to 

purchase one-tenth of a share of common stock. The Rights trade in tandem with the common stock 

until, and are exercisable upon, certain triggering events, and the exercise price is based on the estimated

long-term value of the Company’s common stock. In certain circumstances, the Rights Plan permits the

holders to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock at a discounted rate. The Company’s Board of

Directors retains the right at all times prior to acquisition of 15% of the Company’s voting common stock

by an acquirer, to discontinue the Rights Plan through the redemption of all rights or to amend the Rights

Plan in any respect. The Rights Plan, as amended on February 17, 2000, increased the exercise price per

Right from $100.00 to $700.00 and extended the final expiration date of the Rights Plan to February 17,

2010. On August 13, 2003, the Rights Plan was further amended to permit a qualified institutional investor

to beneficially own up to 17% of the Company’s common stock outstanding without being deemed an

“acquiring person,” if such institutional investor meets certain requirements. 

Stock Options and Restricted Stock Awards: The Company has one shareholder approved equity 

incentive plan, or the Incentive Plan, that provides for the granting of options, restricted stock awards,

stock appreciation rights, performance awards and other stock-based awards to employees and officers 

of the Company to purchase not more than an aggregate of 69,700,000 shares of common stock under 

the 1998 plan, as amended, subject to adjustment under certain circumstances. The Management

Compensation and Development Committee of the Board of Directors, or the Compensation Committee,

determines the type, amount and terms, including vesting, of any awards made under the Incentive Plans.

The 1998 Plan will terminate in 2008.

With respect to options granted under the Incentive Plan, the exercise price may not be less than the

market price of the common stock on the date of grant. In general, options granted under the Incentive

Plan vest over periods ranging from immediate vesting to four-year vesting and expire ten years from the

date of grant, subject to earlier expiration in case of termination of employment. The vesting period for

13. Stock-Based
Compensation
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options and restricted stock awards granted under the Plans is subject to certain acceleration provisions 

if a change in control, as defined in the Plans, occurs.

As a result of the acquisition of Anthrogenesis, the Company assumed the former Anthrogenesis

Qualified Employee Incentive Stock Option Plan and the Anthrogenesis Non-Qualified Recruiting and

Retention Stock Option Plan. Options granted under the Anthrogenesis plans prior to Celgene’s acquisition

of Anthrogenesis generally vested immediately and expire ten years from the date of grant. The

Anthrogenesis options converted into Celgene options at an exchange ratio of 0.4545 on a pre-October

2004 and February 2006 stock split basis. No future awards will be granted under the Non-Qualified Plan.

The Qualified Plan authorizes the award of incentive stock options, which are stock options that qualify for

special federal income tax treatment. The exercise price of any stock options granted under the Qualified

Plan may not be less than the fair value of the common stock on the date of grant. In general, options

granted under the Qualified Plan vest evenly over a four-year period and expire ten years from the date of

grant, subject to earlier expiration in case of termination of employment. The vesting period is subject to

certain acceleration provisions if a change in control occurs. No award will be granted under the Qualified

Plan on or after December 31, 2008.

Stock options granted to executives at the vice-president level and above, after September 18, 2000,

contain a reload feature which provides that if (1) the optionee exercises all or any portion of the stock

option (a) at least six months prior to the expiration of the stock option, (b) while employed by the

Company and (c) prior to the expiration date of the 1998 Incentive Plan and (2) the optionee pays the 

exercise price for the portion of the stock option exercised or pays applicable withholding taxes by using

common stock owned by the optionee for at least six months prior to the date of exercise, the optionee

shall be granted a new stock option under the 1998 Incentive Plan on the date all or any portion of the

stock option is exercised to purchase the number of shares of common stock equal to the number of 

shares of common stock exchanged by the optionee to exercise the stock option or to pay withholding

taxes thereon. The reload stock option will be exercisable on the same terms and conditions as apply to 

the original stock option except that (x) the reload stock option will become exercisable in full on the day

which is six months after the date the original stock option is exercised, (y) the exercise price shall be the

fair value (as defined in the 1998 Incentive Plan) of the common stock on the date the reload stock option

is granted and (z) the expiration of the reload stock option will be the date of expiration of the original

stock option. An optionee may not reload the reload stock option unless otherwise permitted by the

Compensation Committee. As of December 31, 2005, the Company has issued 10,876,300 stock options 

to executives that contain the reload features noted above, of which 6,232,004 are still outstanding.

In June 1995, the stockholders of the Company approved the 1995 Non-Employee Directors’ Incentive

Plan, which, as amended, provides for the granting of non-qualified stock options to purchase an aggregate

of not more than 4,100,000 shares of common stock (subject to adjustment under certain circumstances)

to directors of the Company who are not officers or employees of the Company, or Non-Employee

Directors. Each new Non-Employee Director, upon the date of election or appointment, receives an option

to purchase 20,000 shares of common stock, which vest in four equal annual installments commencing 

on the first anniversary of the date of grant. Additionally, upon the date of each annual meeting of 

stockholders, each continuing Non-Employee Director receives an option to purchase 10,000 shares of 

common stock (or a pro rata portion thereof for service less than one year), which vest in full on the date of

the first annual meeting of stockholders held following the date of grant. As amended in 2003, continuing

Non-Employee Directors receive quarterly grants of 3,750 options aggregating 15,000 options annually,

instead of receiving one annual grant of 15,000 options and vesting occurs one year from the date of grant

instead of on the date of the first annual meeting of stockholders held following the date of grant. The

1995 Non-Employee Directors’ Incentive Plan also provides for a discretionary grant upon the date of each

annual meeting of an additional option to purchase up to 5,000 shares to a Non-employee Director who

serves as a member (but not a chairman) of a committee of the Board of Directors and up to 10,000 shares

to a Non-employee Director who serves as the chairman of a committee of the Board of Directors. All

options are granted at an exercise price that equals the fair value of the Company’s common stock at the
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grant date and expire ten years after the date of grant. This plan terminates on June 30, 2015. In December

2005, in recognition of the significance of the REVLIMID® regulatory approval, continuing Non-Employee

Directors received the 2006 annual stock option award of 15,000 shares, which were granted at an exercise

price equal to the fair value of the Company’s common stock on December 29, 2005 and vest pursuant to

the standard terms of the plan. 

In June 2005, the stockholders of the Company approved amendments to the 1998 Stock Incentive

Plan, or the 1998 Plan, and the 1995 Non-Employee Directors’ Incentive Plan, or the 1995 Plan, to among

other things, increase, on a pre-split basis, the number of shares of common stock that may be subject

to awards from 25,000,000 to 31,000,000 for the 1998 Plan and from 3,600,000 to 3,850,000 for the 

1995 Plan. 

The following table summarizes the stock option activity for the aforementioned Plans:

Shares Options outstanding

available Weighted average
Balance December 31, for grant Shares exercise price per share

2002 1,160,723 10,829,432 $21.37

Authorized 4,000,000 — —

Expired (308,857) — —

Granted (2,424,027) 2,424,027 36.60

Exercised — (1,041,618) 10.69

Cancelled 172,826 (200,092) 26.78

2003 2,600,665 12,011,749 $25.28

Stock split impact 2,600,665 11,324,297 —

Granted (4,073,768) 4,073,768 27.36

Exercised — (1,300,297) 7.99

Cancelled 793,837 (844,799) 19.27

2004 1,921,399 25,264,718 $15.15

Authorized 6,250,000 — —

Granted (7,302,665) 7,302,665 54.32

Exercised — (6,840,682) 11.16

Cancelled 405,262 (429,512) 23.72

Stock split impact 1,273,996 25,297,189 —

2005 2,547,992 50,594,378 $13.70

The following table summarizes information concerning options outstanding under the Incentive

Plans at December 31, 2005:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted Weighted Weighted
average average average

Range of Number exercise remaining Number exercise
exercise prices outstanding price term (yrs.) exercisable price

$00.04 – 05.00 9,773,502 $02.15 4.0 9,753,502 $02.15

$05.01 – 10.00 12,174,984 6.88 5.8 12,134,434 6.92

$10.01 – 15.00 11,177,106 12.65 7.9 10,950,572 12.91

$15.01 – 20.00 6,086,396 16.52 7.2 5,694,516 17.65

$20.01 – 30.00 4,982,196 25.10 8.5 4,739,246 26.38

$30.01 – 35.67 6,400,194 34.62 9.9 6,188,194 35.81

50,594,378 $13.70 6.9 49,460,464 $14.02
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In December 2005, in recognition of the significance of the REVLIMID® regulatory approval, the Board

of Directors approved a resolution to grant the 2006 annual stock option awards in 2005. All stock options

awarded were granted fully vested. Half of the options granted had an exercise price, or strike price, of

$34.05 per option, which was at a 5% premium to the split-adjusted closing price of the Company’s 

common stock of $32.43 on the grant date of December 29, 2005, the remaining options granted had a

strike price of $35.67 per option, which was at a 10% premium to the split-adjusted closing price of the

Company’s common stock of $32.43 on the grant date of December 29, 2005. The Board’s decision to grant

these options was in recognition of the REVLIMID® regulatory approval and in response to a review of the

Company’s long-term incentive compensation programs in light of changes in market practices and recently

issued changes in accounting rules resulting from the issuance of SFAS 123R, which the Company is

required to adopt effective in the first quarter of 2006. In addition, the Company granted certain options 

to key-employees at exercise prices equal to the market price of the Company’s common stock on the date

of grant that also vested immediately. Management believes that granting fully vested options prior to 

the adoption of SFAS 123R will result in the Company not being required to recognize cumulative 

compensation expense of approximately $76.0 million for the four-year period ending December 31, 2009.

During 2001, the Company issued to certain employees an aggregate of 210,000 restricted stock

awards of which 120,000 are still outstanding. Such restricted stock awards will vest on September 19,

2006, unless certain conditions that would trigger accelerated vesting are otherwise met prior to such

date. The fair value of these restricted stock awards at the grant date was $0.8 million, which is being

amortized as compensation expense over the contractual vesting period and classified in selling, general

and administrative expenses. The Company recorded a $0.2 million credit to compensation expense for 

the year ended December 31, 2005 due to cancellation of 90,000 restricted stock awards during the year.

The Company recorded compensation expense of $0.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2004 

and 2003, respectively. 

Warrants: In connection with its acquisition of Anthrogenesis, the Company assumed the

Anthrogenesis warrants outstanding, which were converted into warrants to purchase 867,356 shares 

of the Company’s common stock. Anthrogenesis had issued warrants to investors at exercise prices 

equivalent to the per share price of their investment. As of December 31, 2005, Celgene had 404,696 

warrants outstanding to acquire an equivalent number of shares of Celgene common stock at a weighted

average exercise price of $2.95 per warrant. These warrants expire on various dates from 2008 to 2012.

The Company sponsors an investment savings plan, which qualifies under Section 401(k) of the

Internal Revenue Code, as amended. The Company’s contributions to the savings plan are discretionary 

and have historically been made in the form of the Company’s common stock. Such contributions are based

on specified percentages of employee contributions and aggregated a total expense charged to operations

of $6.5 million in 2005, $3.5 million in 2004 and $4.2 million in 2003.

During 2000, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a deferred compensation plan effective

September 1, 2000. In February, 2005, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted the Celgene Corporation

2005 Deferred Compensation Plan, effective as of January 1, 2005, which operates as the Company’s 

ongoing deferred compensation plan and which is intended to comply with the American Jobs Creation Act

of 2004, which added new Section 409A to the Internal Revenue Code, changing the income tax treatment,

design and administration of certain plans that provide for the deferral of compensation. The Company’s

Board of Directors also froze the 2000 deferred compensation plan, effective as of December 31, 2004, so

that no additional contributions or deferrals can be made to that plan. Accrued benefits under the frozen

plan will continue to be governed by the terms under the tax laws in effect prior to the enactment of

Section 409A. Eligible participants, which include certain top-level executives of the Company as specified

by the plan, can elect to defer up to 25% of the participant’s base salary, 100% of cash bonuses and restricted

14. Employee 
Benefit Plans
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stock and stock options gains (both subject to a minimum deferral of 50% of each award of restricted stock

or stock option gain approved by the Compensation Committee for deferral). Company contributions to 

the deferred compensation plan represent a 100% match of the participant’s deferral up to a specified 

percentage (ranging from 10% to 25%, depending on the employee’s position as specified in the plan) of

the participant’s base salary. The Company recorded expense of $0.4 million, $0.8 million and $0.6 million

associated with the matching of the deferral of compensation in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. All

amounts are 100% vested at all times, except with respect to restricted stock, which will not be vested

until the date the applicable restrictions lapse. At December 31, 2005 and 2004, the Company had a

deferred compensation liability included in other non-current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets

of approximately $11.2 million and $8.8 million, respectively, which included the participant’s elected

deferral of salaries and bonuses, the Company’s matching contribution and earnings on deferred amounts

as of that date. The plan provides various alternatives for the measurement of earnings on the amounts

participants defer under the plan. The measuring alternatives are based on returns of a variety of funds

that offer plan participants the option to spread their risk across a diverse group of investments. 

In 2003, the Company adopted a Long-Term Incentive Plan, or LTIP designed to provide key officers 

and executives with performance based incentive opportunities contingent upon achievement of pre-

established corporate performance objectives, and payable only if employed at the end of the performance

cycle. The 2003 performance cycle began on May 1, 2003 and ended on December 31, 2005, or the 2005

Plan. The 2004 performance cycle began on January 1, 2004 and will end on December 31, 2006, or the

2006 Plan and the 2005 performance cycle began on January 1, 2005 and will end on December 31, 2007,

or the 2007 Plan. The 2006 performance cycle was approved by the Management Compensation and

Development Committee of the Board of Directors on January 19, 2006 and began on January 1, 2006 

and will end on December 31, 2008, or the 2008 Plan. Performance measures for the Plans are based on

the following components: 25% on earnings per share, 25% on net income and 50% on revenue.

Payouts may be in the range of 0% to 200% of the participant’s salary for the 2005, 2007 and 2008

Plans and 0% to 150% of the participant’s salary for the 2006 Plan. The estimated payout for the 2005 Plan

is $4.5 million and the maximum potential payout, assuming objectives are achieved at the 150% level for

the 2006 Plan and at the 200% level for the 2007 and 2008 Plans are $4.5 million, $6.8 million and $7.2

million for the 2006 Plan, 2007 Plan and 2008 Plan, respectively. Such awards are payable in cash or, at its

discretion, the Company can elect to pay the same value in its common stock based upon the Company’s

common stock fair value at the payout date. The Company accrues the long-term incentive liability over

each three-year cycle. Prior to the end of a three-year cycle, the accrual is based on an estimate of the

Company’s level of achievement during the cycle. Upon a change in control, participants will be entitled 

to an immediate payment equal to their target award, or, if higher, an award based on actual performance

through the date of the change in control. For the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, the

Company recognized expense related to LTIP of $4.4 million, $3.4 million and $0.5 million, respectively.

Other Accumulated Comprehensive Income at December 31, 2005 and 2004 consisted of 

the following:
2005 2004

Net unrealized gains on marketable securities, net of tax $4,833 $63,926

Currency translation adjustment (4,745) 4,676

$00,88 $68,602

15. Accumulated 
Comprehensive
Income
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Pharmion: In November 2001, we licensed to Pharmion Corporation exclusive rights relating to the

development and commercial use of our intellectual property covering thalidomide and S.T.E.P.S®. Under

the terms of the agreement, we receive a royalty of 8% of Pharmion’s net thalidomide sales in countries

where Pharmion has received regulatory approval and a S.T.E.P.S® license fee of 8% in all other licensed 

territories. Separately in December 2004, following our acquisition of Penn T Limited, our wholly-owned

subsidiary Celgene UK Manufacturing II Limited, or CUK II, (formerly known as “Penn T Limited”) entered

into an amended thalidomide supply agreement with Pharmion whereby in exchange for a reduction in

Pharmion’s purchase price of thalidomide to 15.5% of its net sales of thalidomide, we received a one-time

payment of $77.0 million. Under the December 2004 agreement, we also received a one-time payment

of $3.0 million in return for granting license rights to Pharmion to develop and market thalidomide in 

additional territories and eliminating certain of our license termination rights. Under the agreements, 

as amended, the territory licensed to Pharmion is for all countries other than the United States, Canada,

Mexico, Japan and all provinces of China other than Hong Kong. The agreements with Pharmion terminate

upon the ten-year anniversary following receipt of the first regulatory approval for thalidomide in the

United Kingdom. 

To support the further clinical development of thalidomide, Pharmion has also provided research

funding under various agreements of approximately $10.7 million through December 31, 2005 and is

required to fund an additional $2.7 million in each of 2006 and 2007. 

At December 31, 2005 and 2004, we held 1,939,600 shares of Pharmion common stock received in

connection with the conversion of a five-year Senior Convertible Promissory Note purchased in April 2003

under a Securities Purchase Agreement with Pharmion and the exercise of warrants received in connection

with the November 2001 thalidomide license and April 2003 Securities Purchase Agreement. 

Novartis Pharma AG: In April 2000, we entered into an agreement with Novartis in which we 

granted to Novartis an exclusive worldwide license (excluding Canada) to develop and market FOCALIN™

(d-methylphenidate, or d- MPH) and FOCALIN XR™, the long-acting drug formulation. We have retained 

the exclusive commercial rights to FOCALIN™ and FOCALIN XR™ for oncology-related disorders, such 

as chronic fatigue associated with chemotherapy. We also granted Novartis rights to all of our related 

intellectual property and patents, including new formulations of the currently marketed RITALIN®. Under

the agreement, we have received upfront and regulatory achievement milestone payments totaling $55.0

million and are entitled to additional payments upon attainment of certain other milestone events. We

also sell FOCALIN™ to Novartis as well as receive royalties on sales of all of Novartis’ FOCALIN XR™ and

RITALIN® family of ADHD-related products. The research portion of the agreement ended in June 2003. 

Serono: In late 2004, the Company assumed co-exclusive rights with Serono SA to discover and 

develop therapeutics that modulate the NFkB pathway utilizing technology and know-how previously

licensed to Serono SA. Celgene made a one-time payment of $6.0 million to Serono SA, which was 

recorded as research and development expense since this relates to undeveloped technology, and will

make milestone and royalty payments on the sales on any resulting products. Serono SA will have 

reciprocal milestone payment and royalty obligations to Celgene for any products Serono SA discovers,

develops and commercializes utilizing the technology and know-how. 

S.T.E.P.S. License Agreements: In late 2004, the Company entered into an agreement providing 

manufacturers of isotretinoin (Acutane‚) with a non-exclusive license to its patent portfolio directed to

methods for safely delivering isotretinoin (Acutane‚) in potentially high-risk patient populations in

exchange for $0.5 million. The manufacturers of isotretinoin have licensed these patents with the intention

of implementing a new pregnancy risk management system to safely deliver isotretinoin in potentially

high-risk patient populations. The Company is entitled to future royalties under these agreements. 

16. Sponsored Research,
License and 
Other Agreements
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The income tax provision is based on income before income taxes as follows:

2005 2004 2003

U.S. $135,048 $244,034 $25,661

Non-U.S. (50,836) (180,863) —

Income before income taxes $084,212 $063,171 $25,661

The provision/(benefit) for taxes on income from continuing operations is as follows:

2005 2004 2003

United States:

Taxes currently payable:

Federal $11,538 $06,429 $0—

State and local 8,609 4,067 718

Deferred income taxes (3,430) — —

Total U.S. tax provision 16,717 10,496 718 

International:

Taxes currently payable 4,926 23,486 —

Deferred income taxes (1,087) (23,567) —

Total international tax provision 3,839 (81) —

Total provision $20,556 $10,415 $718

Amounts are reflected in the preceding tables based on the location of the taxing authorities. 

As of December 31, 2005, we have not made a U.S. tax provision on approximately $77.6 million of

unremitted earnings of our international subsidiaries. These earnings are expected to be reinvested 

overseas. It is not practicable to compute the estimated deferred tax liability on these earnings.

The Company operates under an incentive tax holiday in Switzerland that expires in 2015 and

exempts the Company from certain Swiss income taxes.

Deferred taxes arise because of different treatment between financial statement accounting and 

tax accounting, known as “temporary differences.” The company records the tax effect on these temporary

differences as “deferred tax assets” (generally items that can be used as a tax deduction or credit in future

periods) or “deferred tax liabilities” (generally items for which the company received a tax deduction but

that have not yet been recorded in the consolidated statement of operations). The Company periodically

evaluates the likelihood of the realization of deferred tax assets, and reduces the carrying amount of these

deferred tax assets by a valuation allowance to the extent it believes a portion will not be realized. The

Company considers many factors when assessing the likelihood of future realization of deferred tax assets,

including its recent cumulative earnings experience by taxing jurisdiction, expectations of future taxable

income, the carryforward periods available to it for tax reporting purposes, and other relevant factors.

Significant judgment is required in making this assessment. At December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 the 

tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to deferred tax assets were as follows:

17. Income Taxes
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2005 2004 2003

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

Federal and state net operating 

loss carryforwards $084,161 $0000— $53,477 $0000— $141,379 $0 00—

Prepaid/deferred items 30,016 — 29,863 — — —

Deferred Revenue 19,533 — 24,174 — — —

Capitalized research expenses 6,861 — 8,971 — 16,774 —

Research and experimentation 

tax credit carryforwards 19,770 — 17,431 — 9,154 —

Plant and equipment, primarily 

differences in depreciation 618 (295) 2,307 (295) 1,524 —

Inventory 1,607 — 1,362 (928) — —

Other Assets — (7,325) — (2,230) — —

Intangibles 7,910 (27,786) 3,182 (29,761) 5,615 —

Accrued and other expenses 20,493 — 14,590 — 6,686 —

Unrealized losses/(gains) 

on securities — (848) — (33,385) 4,188 (8,893)

Subtotal 190,969 (36,254) 155,357 (66,599) 185,320 (8,893)

Valuation allowance (10,396) — (75,510) — (176,427) —

Total Deferred Taxes $180,573 $(36,254) $79,847 $(66,599) $008,893 $(8,893)

Net Deferred Tax Asset $144,319 $0000— $13,248 $0000— $0 000,— $ 000— 

Reconciliation of the U.S. statutory income tax rate to our effective tax rate for continuing operations

is as follows:

Percentages 2005 2004 2003

US statutory rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%

Foreign losses without tax benefit 27.2 50.5 —

State taxes, net of federal benefit 9.6 4.3 3.3

Other 3.2 1.7 —

Change in valuation allowance (50.6) (75.0) (35.5)

Effective income tax rate 24.4% 16.5% 2.8%

At March 31, 2005, the Company determined it was more likely than not that certain benefits of its

deferred tax assets would be realized based on favorable clinical data related to REVLIMID® (Lenalidomide)

during the quarter in concert with the Company’s nine consecutive quarters of profitability. This led to the

conclusion that it was more likely than not that the Company will generate sufficient taxable income to

realize the benefits of its deferred tax assets. As a result of eliminating the related valuation allowances,

the Company recorded an income tax benefit in 2005 of $42.6 million and an increase to additional paid-in

capital of $30.2 million. At December 31, 2005, it was more likely than not that the Company would realize

its deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowances.

At December 31, 2005, the Company had federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately

$198.0 million and combined state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $ 218.7 million 

that will expire in the years 2006 through 2025. The Company also has research and experimentation 

credit carryforwards of approximately $19.7 million that expire in the years 2006 through 2025. Ultimate

utilization/availability of such net operating losses and credits may be curtailed if a significant change in

ownership occurs. Signal and Anthrogenesis experienced an ownership change, as that term is defined in 
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section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code, when acquired by Celgene, as such, there is an annual limitation
on the use of these net operating losses in the amount of approximately $11.6 million and $3.4 million,
respectively. Approximately $8.1 million of deferred tax assets acquired in the Anthrogenesis acquisition at
December 31, 2002 consisted primarily of net operating losses; as such there may be an annual limitation
on the Company’s ability to utilize the acquired net operating losses in the future. 

The Company realized stock option deduction benefits in 2005, 2004, and 2003 for income tax purposes
and has increased paid-in capital in the amount of approximately $103.6 million, $14.2 million, and 
$0.8 million, respectively. 

Leases: The Company leases office and research facilities under several operating lease agreements 
in the United States, Switzerland and United Kingdom. The minimum annual rents may be subject to 
specified annual rental increases. At December 31, 2005, the non-cancelable lease terms for the operating
leases expire at various dates between 2006 and 2012 and include renewal options. In general, the
Company is also required to reimburse the lessors for real estate taxes, insurance, utilities, maintenance
and other operating costs associated with the leases. 

The Company leases certain equipment under a capital lease arrangement. Assets held under 
capital leases are included in plant and equipment and the amortization of these assets is included in
depreciation expense. Future minimum lease payments under noncancelable operating leases (with 
initial or remaining lease terms in excess of one year) and future minimum capital lease payments as 
of December 31, 2005 are: 

(In millions) Operating leases Capital leases

2006 $3.4 $2
2007 2.9 2
2008 2.6 —

2009 2.5 —

2010 2.5 —

Thereafter 3.9 —

Total minimum lease payments $17.8 $4

Less amount representing interest 1

Present value of net minimum
capital lease payments 3

Less current installments of obligations
under capital leases 1

Obligations under capital leases, excluding current installments $2

Total facilities rental expense under operating leases was approximately $4.5 million in 2005, 
$4.3 million in 2004 and $3.9 million in 2003. 

Contracts: In connection with the Company’s acquisition of Penn T, the Company entered into a
Technical Services Agreement with Penn Pharmaceutical Services Limited, or PPSL, and Penn Pharmaceutical
Holding Limited pursuant to which PPSL provides the services and facilities necessary for the manufacture
of THALOMID® and other thalidomide formulations. The total cost to be incurred over the five-year minimum
agreement period is approximately $11.0 million. At December 31, 2005, the remaining cost to be incurred
was approximately $7.8 million.

In March 2003, the Company entered into a supply and distribution agreement with GSK to distribute,

promote and sell ALKERAN® (melphalan), a therapy approved by the FDA for the palliative treatment of

multiple myeloma and carcinoma of the ovary. Under the terms of the agreement, the Company purchases

ALKERAN® tablets and ALKERAN® for infusion from GSK and distributes the products in the United States

under the Celgene label. The agreement requires the Company to purchase certain minimum quantities

each year under a take-or-pay arrangement. The agreement has been extended through March 31, 2009.

On December 31, 2005, the remaining minimum purchase requirements under the agreement totaled

$102.0 million.

18. Commitments
and Contingencies
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The Company signed an exclusive license agreement with CMCC, which terminated any existing

thalidomide analog agreements between CMCC and EntreMed and directly granted to Celgene an exclusive

worldwide license for the analog patents. Under the agreement, the Company is required to pay CMCC $2.0

million between 2005 and 2006. The outstanding balance related to this agreement was $1.0 million at

December 31, 2005. Additional payments are possible under the agreement depending on the successful

development and commercialization of thalidomide analogs. 

In October 2003, the Company signed an agreement with Institute of Drug Technology Australia

Limited, or IDT, for the manufacture of finished dosage form of THALOMID® capsules. The agreement

requires minimum purchases of THALOMID® capsules of $4.7 million for the three-year term commencing

with the April 2005 FDA approval of IDT as an alternate supplier. This agreement provides the Company

with additional capacity and reduces its dependency on one manufacturer for the production of THALOMID®.

The outstanding balance related to this agreement was $4.0 million at December 31, 2005.

Contingencies: The Company believes it maintains insurance coverage adequate for its current needs.

The Company’s operations are subject to environmental laws and regulations, which impose limitations 

on the discharge of pollutants into the air and water and establish standards for the treatment, storage

and disposal of solid and hazardous wastes. The Company reviews the effects of such laws and regulations

on its operations and modifies its operations as appropriate. The Company believes it is in substantial 

compliance with all applicable environmental laws and regulations.

On August 19, 2004, the Company, together with its exclusive licensee Novartis, filed an infringement

action in the United States District Court of New Jersey against Teva Pharmaceuticals USA, Inc., in response

to notices of Paragraph IV certifications made by Teva in connection with the filing of an ANDA for

FOCALIN™. The notification letters contend that United States Patent Nos. 5,908,850, or ’850 patent, 

and 6,355,656, or ’656 patent, were invalid. The ’656 patent is currently the subject of reexamination 

proceedings in the United States Patent and Trademark Office. After the suit was filed, Novartis listed

another patent, United States Patent No. 6,528,530, or ’530 patent, in the Orange Book in association 

with the FOCALIN™ NDA. Neither the ’656 patent nor the ’530 patent is part of the patent infringement

action against Teva. This case does not involve an ANDA for RITALIN LA® or FOCALIN XR™ as such an ANDA

has not been filed. Recently, Teva amended its answer to contend that the ’850 patent was not infringed 

by the filing of its ANDA, and that the ’850 patent is not enforceable due to an allegation of inequitable

conduct. Fact discovery expired on February 28, 2006. No trial date has been set. If successful, Teva will be

permitted to sell a generic version of FOCALIN™, which could significantly reduce the Company’s sales of

FOCALIN™ to Novartis.

The Company operates in two business segments – Human Pharmaceuticals and Stem Cell 

Therapies. The accounting policies of the segments are the same as described in the summary of 

significant accounting policies.

Human Pharmaceuticals: The Human Pharmaceutical segment is engaged in the discovery, 

development and commercialization of innovative therapies designed to treat cancer and immuno-

inflammatory diseases through regulation of cellular, genomic and proteomic targets. The segment derives

its revenues from pharmaceutical sales of REVLIMID®, THALOMID®, ALKERAN® and FOCALIN™; royalties

from Novartis on their sales of FOCALIN XR™ and the entire RITALIN® family of drugs; and, a licensing 

and product supply agreement with Pharmion for its sales of thalidomide. This segment includes the

EntreMed equity method investment and Signal Pharmaceuticals, LLC., a wholly-owned San Diego-based

biopharmaceutical company focused on the discovery and development of drugs that regulate genes 

and proteins associated with diseases. 

Stem Cell Therapies: With the acquisition of Anthrogenesis Corp. in December 2002, the Company

acquired a biotherapeutics company pioneering the development of stem cell therapies and biomaterials

derived from human placental tissue that now operates as Celgene Cellular Therapeutics, or CCT. CCT has

organized its business into three main units: (1) stem cells banking for transplantation, (2) private stem 

19. Segments and 
Related Information
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cell banking and (3) the development of biomaterials for organ and tissue repair. CCT has developed 

proprietary methods for producing biomaterials for organ and tissue repair (i.e. BIOVANCE™). Additionally,

CCT has developed proprietary technology for collecting, processing and storing placental stem cells with

potentially broad therapeutic applications in cancer, as well as autoimmune, cardiovascular, neurological,

and degenerative diseases.

Summarized segment information is as follows: 

Human Stem Cell
Pharmaceuticals Therapies Unallocated(2) Total

2005

Total assets $499,753 $22,624 $724,260 $1,246,637

Revenue from external customers 530,094 6,847 — 536,941

Inter-segment revenue — 12,036 — 12,036

Total revenue $530,094 $18,883 $0000,— $0,548,977

Income (loss) before income taxes(1) 109,474 (13,226) — 96,248

Capital expenditures 34,491 1,370 — 35,861

Depreciation and amortization of 

long-term assets 13,209 1,077 — 14,286

2004

Total assets $334,932 $23,824 $748,537 $1,107,293

Revenue from external customers 372,957 4,545 — 377,502

Inter-segment revenue — — — —

Total revenue $372,957 $04,545 $0000,— $0,377,502

Income (loss) before income taxes(1) 78,810 (15,639) —  63,171

Capital expenditures 34,790 1,225 — 36,015

Depreciation and amortization of 

long-term assets 8,714 976 — 9,690

2003

Total assets $135,123 $10,936 $666,967 $0,813,026

Revenue from external customers 267,980 3,495 — 271,475

Inter-segment revenue — — — —

Total revenue $267,980 $03,495 $0000,— $0,271,475

Income (loss) before income taxes(1) 42,279 (16,618) — 25,661

Capital expenditures 8,726 2,501 — 11,227

Depreciation and amortization of 

long-term assets 7,339 688 — 8,027

(1) Expenses incurred at the consolidated level are included in the results of the Human Pharmaceuticals segment.
(2) Unallocated corporate assets consist of cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities available for sale.

The following table provides a reconciliation of selected segment information to corresponding

amounts contained in the Company’s Consolidated financial statements:

2005 2004 2003

Total Revenue from segments $548,977 $377,502 $271,475

Elimination of intersegment revenue (12,036) — —

Total consolidated revenue $536,941 $377,502 $271,475

Income before income taxes from segments $096,248 $063,171 $025,661

Elimination of intercompany profit (12,036) — —

Consolidated income before income taxes $084,212 $063,171 $025,661
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Operations by Geographic Area: Revenues outside of North America consist primarily of sales 

of THALOMID® and REVLIMID® in Europe and royalties from Novartis on their international sales of 

RITALIN® LA. 

Revenues 2005 2004 2003

North America $518,439 $374,686 $271,475

All Other 18,502 2,816 —

Total Revenues $536,941 $377,502 $271,475

Long Lived Assets(1) 2005 2004

North America $073,340 $059,131

All Other 134,940 144,820

Total Long Lived Assets $208,280 $203,951

(1) Long-lived assets consist of net property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and goodwill.

Revenues by Product: Total revenue from external customers by product for the years ended 

December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, were as follows:

(In thousands $) 2005 2004 2003

Net product sales:

THALOMID® $387,816 $308,577 $223,686

FOCALIN™ 4,210 4,177 2,383

ALKERAN® 49,748 16,956 17,827

REVLIMID® 2,862 — —

Other 989 861 557

Total net product sales $445,625 $330,571 $244,453

Collaborative agreements

and other revenue 41,334 20,012 15,174

Royalty revenue 49,982 26,919 11,848

Total revenue $536,941 $377,502 $271,475

Major Customers: As is typical in the pharmaceutical industry, the Company sells its products primarily

through wholesale distributors and therefore, wholesale distributors account for a large portion of the

Company’s net product revenues. In 2005, 2004 and 2003, there were three customers that each accounted

for more than 10% of the Company’s total revenue. The percent of total sales to each such customer in

2005, 2004 and 2003 were as follows: Cardinal Health 39.0%, 29.5% and 32.5%; McKesson Corp. 27.3%,

18.6% and 17.4%; and Amerisource Bergen Corp. 19.9%, 17.9% and 23.7%. Sales to such customers were

included in the results of the Human Pharmaceuticals segment. These same customers accounted for the

following percentages of accounts receivable for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively:

McKesson Corp. 32.8% and 25.3%; Cardinal Health 30.0% and 32.2%; and Amerisource Bergen Corp. 13.2%

and 14.0%.
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20. Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)

1Q 2Q 3Q 4Q Year

2005
Total revenue $112,396 $145,701 $129,506 $149,338 $536,941 
Gross profit(1) 99,792 127,505 106,307 122,610 456,214
Income tax benefit (provision) 34,172 (29,967) (12,975) (11,786) (20,556)
Net income 48,214 10,846 668 3,928 63,656
Net earnings per common share(2) -

basic $0000.15 $0000.03 $0000,— $0000.01 $0000.19
diluted $0000.13 $0000.03 $0000,— $0000.01 $0000.18

Weighted average number of shares of 
common stock outstanding(3) -

basic 331,225 334,282 336,596 339,839 335,512
diluted 382,216 352,023 359,724 359,998 390,585

1Q 2Q 3Q 4Q Year

2004
Total revenue $082,873 $087,753 $101,468 $105,408 $377,502
Gross profit(1) 61,726 64,916 68,637 75,566 270,845
Income tax provision (801) (1,156) (1,974) (6,484) (10,415)
Net income 8,914 2,595 19,008 22,239 52,756
Net earnings per common share(2) -

basic $0.03 $0.01 $0000.06 $0000.07 $0000.16
diluted $0.03 $ 0.01 $0000.05 $0000.06 $0000.15

Weighted average number of shares of 
common stock outstanding(3) -

basic 325,902 327,348 328,181 329,499 327,738
diluted 349,050 353,709 354,128 347,339 345,710

(1) Gross profit is computed by subtracting cost of goods sold from net product sales.
(2) The sum of the quarters may not equal the full year basic and diluted earnings per share since each period is calculated separately.
(3) The weighted average number of shares outstanding reflects the February 17, 2006 two- for- one stock split.

Schedule II – Valuation and Qualifying Accounts Additions
Balance at charged to

beginning of expense or Balance at
Year ended December 31, year sales Deductions end of year

2005
Allowance for doubtful accounts $01,370 $01,029 $00,107 $02,292
Allowance for customer discounts 838 10,434 9,825 1,447

Subtotal 2,208 11,463 9,932 3,739
Allowance for sales returns 9,595 21,160(1) 25,738 5,017

$11,803 $32,623 $35,670 $8,756

2004
Allowance for doubtful accounts $00,873 $0,0867 $0,0370 $01,370
Allowance for customer discounts 657 7,448 7,267 838

Subtotal 1,530 8,315 7,637 2,208
Allowance for sales returns 8,368 16,279(1) 15,052 9,595

$09,898 $24,594 $22,689 $11,803

2003
Allowance for doubtful accounts $00,729 $00,448 $00,304 $00,873
Allowance for customer discounts 291 5,503 5,137 657

Subtotal 1,020 5,951 5,441 1,530
Allowance for sales returns 2,783 12,659(1) 7,074 8,368

$03,803 $18,610 $12,515 $09,898

(1) Amounts are a reduction from gross sales. 



On December 27, 2005, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved REVLIMID

(lenalidomide), changing the course of treatment for MDS deletion 5q and Celgene. The first of

our novel class of immunomodulatory compounds, and a breakthrough oral targeted therapy,

REVLIMID is now approved in the United States for the treatment of patients with transfusion-

dependent anemia due to low-risk or intermediate-1-risk myelodysplastic syndromes (MDS)

associated with a deletion 5q cytogenetic abnormality with or without additional cytogenetic

abnormalities. MDS is a group of blood cancers that affects approximately 300,000 people world-

wide, and 10,000 to 20,000 new cases of MDS are diagnosed each year in the United States.

To help ensure safe access to the clinical benefits of this important new therapy – to the 

maximum extent possible – we have made REVLIMID available from contracted pharmacies

under RevAssistSM, an industry-leading proprietary education and prescribing safety program.

We have also launched REVLIMID in the United States, with Europe positioned to follow.

REVLIMID and our other marketed products are providing a solid and growing revenue base

as we continue investing in our future through a rich pipeline of promising compounds.

We are committed to bringing important benefits of our innovative therapies to thousands

of people around the world. We are establishing broad patient support programs to help ensure

that patients will continue to have access to the clinical benefits that our innovative therapies can

provide. And we are working hard to rapidly advance promising new drugs for cancer and 

inflammatory-based diseases so that even more patients in need can be helped.

The REVLIMID revolution is just beginning! 
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Corporate Information

Stockholder Information

Celgene common stock is traded on the NASDAQ National Market System.

NASDAQ Symbol: CELG. Celgene options are listed on the Chicago Board Options

Exchange. CBOE symbol: LQH.

As of April 4, 2006, there were 104,056 holders of record of the Company’s common 

stock. The following table sets forth the intra-day high and low sales price of the 

common stock for the periods indicated, as reported by the NASDAQ National 

Market System and has been adjusted to reflect the 2 for 1 stock split in February 2006.

2005 2004
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Third Quarter 29.41 19.77 15.05 11.66

Second Quarter 21.62 16.60 15.15 11.25

First Quarter 17.62 12.35 12.23 9.37

The price quotations set forth above represent prices to dealers and do not include 

retail markups, markdowns or commissions. Celgene has not paid, and does not 

anticipate paying in the near future, dividends on its common stock. Stockholders,

analysts and other representatives of the financial community wishing more 

information about Celgene should direct their inquiries to:

Investor Relations

Celgene Corporation

86 Morris Avenue

Summit, New Jersey 07901

(908) 673-9000

Annual Meeting

The annual meeting of stockholders of Celgene Corporation will be held on 

Wednesday, June 14, 2006, at Celgene Headquarters in Summit, NJ, at 1:00 P.M.

Form 10-K

Copies of the Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005 may be obtained 

by stockholders without charge upon written inquiry to the Corporate Secretary 

at the corporate headquarters.

Acelagraft™, Biovance™, and LifebankUSA™ are trademarks of Celgene Corporation       

REVLIMID®, IMiDs®, THALOMID® and S.T.E.P.S.® are registered trademarks of Celgene Corporation
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are registered service marks of Celgene Corporation

FOCALIN™ and FOCALIN-XR™ are trademarks of Novartis Pharma AG

Ritalin® is a registered trademark of Novartis Pharmaceuticals Corporation

ALKERAN® is a registered trademark of Glaxo SmithKline Corporation

PRMP™ is a trademark of Pharmion Corporation © Copyright 2006 Celgene Corporation

Corporate Headquarters

Celgene Corporation

86 Morris Avenue

Summit, NJ 07901

(908) 673-9000

Transfer Agent

American Stock Transfer 

& Trust Company

59 Maiden Lane

New York, New York 10039

Independent Auditors

KPMG LLP

150 John F. Kennedy Parkway

Short Hills, New Jersey 07078

Certain information 

contained in this annual 

report are forward looking 

statements. Factors that 

appear with the forward 

looking statements or in 

the Company’s Securities 

and Exchange Commission 

filings could cause the 

Company’s actual results 

to differ materially from 

those expressed in any 

forward looking statements 

in this annual report.

Visit our website at
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